FIFTY YEARS OF EXECUTIVE CONTROL RESEARCH IN ATTENTION-DEFICIT/HYPERACTIVITY DISORDER:WHAT WE HAVE LEARNED AND STILL NEED TO KNOW

Russell J. Schachar

Department of Psychiatry, The Hospital for Sick Children and University of Toronto, Research Institute, The Hospital for Sick Children, 555 University Avenue, Toronto, Ontario, Canada, M5G1X8

e-mail address: russell.schachar@sickkids.ca

No competing interests

Running heading: ADHD and executive control

Abstract

For 50 years, attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder (ADHD) has been considered a disorder of executive control (EC), the higher-order, cognitive skills that support self-regulation, goal attainment and what we generally call "attention." This review surveys our current understanding of the nature of EC as it pertains to ADHD and considers the evidence in support of eight hypotheses that can be derived from the EC theory of ADHD. This paper provides a resource for practitioners to aid in clinical decision-making. To support theory building, I draw a parallel between the EC theory of ADHD and the common gene–common variant model of complex traits such as ADHD. The conclusion offers strategies for advancing collaborative research.

Keywords: ADHD, Executive control, Attention, Review, Theory

Table of Contents

Abstract1
1 Introduction
2 What is EC?
2.1 One or many EC processes?6
2.2 Why are there so many different laboratory measures of EC?7
2.3 The role of self-rated EC skills7
3.1 EC deficits are commonly found in ADHD8
3.2 EC deficits confirm an ADHD diagnosis8
3.3 EC measures can clarify diagnosis in the presence of comorbidity9
3.4 EC deficits are impairing12
3.5 EC deficits predict outcome12
3.6 EC skills play a role in medication response13
3.7 EC training improves ADHD14
3.8 EC deficits play a mechanistic role in ADHD14
4 Discussion
4.1 Summary of evidence in support of Executive Control theory of ADHD
4.2 Research agenda
4.2.1 Improving our understanding of EC in ADHD17
4.2.2 Improving EC measurement18
4.2.3 Optimizing research design19
4.1.4 Omni-EC deficit model of ADHD19
4.1.5 Multi-EC risk index20
5 Conclusion
6 Acknowledgements
7 References 22
8 Figures and Captions
9 Tables

1 Introduction

Attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder (ADHD) is a childhood-onset, neurodevelopmental disorder characterized by developmentally inappropriate and impairing restlessness, inattentiveness, and impulsiveness. The condition affects approximately 5% of children globally and is a risk for substantial impairment in later life, which makes it a major mental health concern (Faraone et al., 2021). ADHD is common among adults as well as children, but the current discussion focuses on children and youth because research in childhood ADHD more often includes measures of EC and lessons learned about cognition and childhood ADHD can be generalized to adults with ADHD.

Prevailing theories about the nature of ADHD have changed considerably over the last century. In the late 19th century what was later known as ADHD was considered a disorder of moral dyscontrol or intellectual deficiency that ran in families due to adverse genetic and social circumstances (Still, 1902; Tredgold, 1908). In the 20th century, the neural and behavioral consequences of encephalitis lethargica (1918–1920) highlighted the possible role of acquired brain injury (Kahn and Cohen, 1934). If severe brain injury could cause serious behavioral and intellectual consequences, doctors surmised that mild or minimal brain damage (MBD) arising from undetected or subtle trauma (such as that arising during pregnancy or delivery) could cause the less severe restlessness, inattentiveness, and impulsiveness that defined ADHD (Knobloch and Pasamanick, 1959).

Fifty years ago, the prevailing dogma regarding ADHD's central, underlying abnormality shifted once again to emphasize cognitive deficit; specifically, impaired attention, or executive control (EC). Virginia Douglas (Douglas, 1972, pp. 259) posited that "a core group of symptoms involving inability to sustain attention and to control impulsivity can account for most of the deficits found in the hyperactive group." The theory that ADHD reflects disordered attention arising from impaired EC processes has served as a durable organizing principle in practice and research for five decades and led to the disorder's renaming as attention deficit hyperactivity disorder (ADD) in the third edition of the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual (DSM III) (American Psychiatric Association, 1980) and as attention deficit hyperactivity disorder (ADHD) in DSM IV. There have been 93,000 scientific papers on ADHD/ADD and attention or EC since 1972. Almost all large-scale studies of ADHD include measures of EC skills (Epstein et al., 2022). Current diagnostic criteria for ADHD (DSM-5; American Psychiatric Association, 2013) largely reflect impaired EC: poor focused attention (fails to give close attention or is easily distracted); difficulty sustaining attention (avoids tasks that require mental effort over a long time); problems planning and organizing attention (has trouble organizing); weak working memory (loses things, is forgetful); and deficient inhibitory control (has difficulty waiting for their turn, interrupts). The overlap between the diagnostic criteria for ADHD and definition of EC skills raises the possibility of circularity in research studies of EC and ADHD. Those individuals who meet criteria for the inattentive subtype of ADHD might exhibit EC reflecting poor focused and sustained attention and those with the hyperactive-impulsive subtype might have greater problem with inhibitory control.

The EC theory of ADHD posits that EC deficits lie at the core of ADHD and mediate the link between underlying causes — whether they be neural, genetic, or environmental — and the

behavioral manifestations of ADHD. The EC theory of ADHD is not just an abstract theoretical construct, but one that enters and shapes clinical encounters when patients and parents ask about the validity of an ADHD diagnosis, the underlying cause of ADHD, and the nature of therapies. Increasingly, measures of EC are becoming part of standard clinical assessment (Conners et al., 2003; Epstein et al., 2003) and EC is beginning to shape therapy, as can be seen in the surge of interest in digital therapeutics and attention training. Practitioners want to know whether EC deficits can help them understand the disorder and explain it to their patients and hope that measuring EC skills can improve diagnostic accuracy, outcome prediction, and treatment.

This review presents a primer on EC and its role in ADHD. First, I define EC, and discuss the diverse methods of measuring EC. Then, I summarize evidence supporting eight hypotheses derived from the EC theory of ADHD. Finally (section 4), I suggest areas for further research and offer a reconceptualization of the role of EC in ADHD — an omni-EC theory of ADHD, which parallels current omnigenic models of ADHD and other complex disorders. Has the EC theory advanced our understanding of ADHD as predicted by its early advocates? Has it resulted in better clinical practice? I argue in conclusion that it has and that EC fills a critical gap in our understanding of the link between ADHD's causes and its symptoms. However, scientific challenges remain even after 50 years of EC research.

2 What is EC?

EC processes organize and manage more basic processes, such as perception, thinking, memory, affect, and action, so that we can meet our immediate and longer-term goals in an ever-changing and uncertain environment. In everyday parlance, EC is often called "attention," because it is key to our ability to "pay attention." According to Mesulam (1998) EC is a function of cognition which reflects all neural processing linking sensation to adaptive responses (thinking, feeling, and action) and to meaningful experiences, including consciousness. In animals, cognition tends to be largely reactive, reflexive, unvarying, and sensation-driven. As a result, amphibians are great fly catchers! Humans have larger brains and more synapses than amphibians, allowing for complex association networks that permit more rapid configuration and reconfiguration of the cognitive system to optimize both immediate and longer-term goals. Consequently, humans can influence the way that sensations link to responses and experience. We can withhold, stop, and shift our actions, feelings, and thoughts; we can prepare, sustain our attention, and divide our attention so that we can respond quickly and accurately; and we can hold and update information for future use. We can flip among these abilities as circumstances and goals dictate and deploy them in rapid succession if needed. These abilities are what we mean by EC. Through their influence on lower-level processes, such as memory, action, and sensation, EC processes are key to this adaptive configuration and volitional selfregulation — and possibly to conscious perception (Martín-Signes et al., 2019).

EC links to mental health in several ways. Poor EC makes a person less able to cope with changing environmental circumstances and stress or to manage emotions, make plans, and learn from experience. EC abilities influence one's attraction to short-term over long-term rewards. The vulnerability associated with EC difficulties might be nonspecific, such that every

EC deficit leads to poor outcomes, or there might be more specific links between certain EC processes and particular outcomes. For example, poor inhibitory control has a prima facie link to the impulsivity associated with ADHD, conduct disorder, or substance use disorder.

There is considerable diversity in the way that EC processes are defined. There is also a wide variation in the tasks that are used to measure EC and in the measures of EC that are derived from EC tasks (Banich et al., 2009; Diamond, 2013; Jurado and Rosselli, 2007). Most models of EC include inhibition, working memory, and cognitive flexibility (Miyake et al., 2000; Stuss, 1993; Zelazo, 2020). But there are other EC processes, such as planning, error processing (monitoring for, detecting, and adjusting to errors), dividing and sustaining attention, delaying responses, and temporal processing. The distinction between processes that involve EC and those that do not can be blurred as in the role of inhibition in memory retreival (Penolazzi et al., 2014). Some EC models distinguish between processes that are effortful (controlled) and those that are not (automatic) (Friedman and Robbins, 2022), and some distinguish between cold cognition (rational, top down, prefrontal cortical) and hot cognition (emotional, reward-driven, bottom up, limbic and ventral prefrontal) (Rastikerdar et al., 2023).

Each EC process can be subdivided even more. For example, inhibitory control has been operationalized as the ability to suppress the influence of goal-irrelevant stimuli so as to inhibit distraction (Stroop or Eriksen Flanker tasks); to withhold responses before they are initiated (go/ no-go task, continuous performance task (CPT), or delay-discounting tasks); or to cancel responses after they have begun (stop-signal task or Wisconsin Card Sorting Test (WCST)). Bari and Robbins (2013) found that the concept of inhibition had been defined, operationalized, and measured in 18 different ways across the studies they reviewed. The same diversity of definitions is found in all EC processes. Sustained attention can be operationalized as maintaining performance over a prolonged period (such as minutes or hours as required by a radar operator, sentry, or assembly-line worker), without slowing one's responses (increased reaction time, RT) or showing lapses in attention (reaction time variability, RTV) (Chee et al., 1989; van Schie et al., 2021). And working memory similarly can be parsed into verbal and visuospatial working memory and into holding and manipulating information in memory (Cowan, 2022).

A clear understanding of EC skills is also impeded by the lack of correspondence between EC processes and the performance metrics that researchers choose to measure these skills (Figure 1). Not only are multiple laboratory tasks used to measure response inhibition, but also each task uses different metric to describe performance. The stop-signal task calculates stop-signal reaction time (SSRT), which is an estimate of the latency of the stopping process measured in milliseconds (Logan and Cowan, 1984). The CPT indexes inhibition as the proportion of false positive responses (responding when withholding was required); the WCST reports inhibition as perseverative errors (continuing to respond even when sorting rules have changed; Miles et al., 2021); and the Stroop task assesses inhibition as the effect of distraction (e.g., the speed of reading color names printed in black versus those printed in conflicting colors) (Scarpina and Tagini, 2017). Even though each of these tasks and metrics purports to measure "inhibition," heterogeneity in performance metrics creates challenges for those wishing to aggregate data across multiple studies (Mar et al., 2021).

To make matters even more complex, almost every laboratory task has been used to measure more than one EC process. For example, in addition to indexing inhibition, both the stop-signal task and the CPT measure RT and RTV to assess preparedness, attention, and arousal; in addition, the CPT measures lapses of attention (omission errors) and sustained attention (deterioration in performance on a task over time) (van der Meere et al., 1991). Similarly, multiple performance indices can be derived from the WCST (e.g., failures to stick with an established sorting rule and the difficulty switching to a new sorting rule) (Scarpina and Tagini, 2017).

Insert Figure 1: Mapping EC processes to tasks and performance metrics

Finally, to understand what EC is and isn't, it is important to distinguish it from IQ. Whereas EC measures are intended to reflect specific cognitive processes, intelligence as measured in IQ tests reflects a global estimate of overall EC, neurocognition, comprehension, learning, motivation, and social context, and is beyond the scope of this review (Dennis et al., 2009; Gustavson et al., 2022). When IQ has been used as a covariate in studies of specific EC processes, it accounts for a small proportion of the variance in scores but typically does not alter group comparisons (e.g., ADHD-diagnosed individuals compared with typically developing peers) (Schachar et al., 2023).

2.1 One or many EC processes?

How many EC processes are there and how critical is the distinction among them? There is a vigorous "unity" versus "diversity" debate (Marklund et al., 2007) in EC research, akin to the lumping and splitting debate in theories of psychopathology (McMahon and Insel, 2012; Thaxton et al., 2022) and intelligence (Howard, 1993; Sternberg and Kaufman, 1998). The unity argument holds that all EC processes are manifestations of a single, underlying process or mechanism, such as a supervisory attention system (Norman and Shallice, 1981) or central executive (Baddeley and Hitch, 1974). Unity theories argue that there is a general factor akin to global IQ that accounts for much of the variation in EC measures. Therefore, it might not matter which EC processes are measured in a particular study because they are essentially equivalent. By contrast, the diversity argument holds that EC processes are influenced by some developmentally prior EC function that shapes performance (e.g., Barkley, 1997) or because they depend on partially overlapping subprocesses or neural substrates (see section 4, Discussion). Task choice matters a great deal if diversity is the most accurate explanation.

As is usual in lumping versus splitting debates in biology, the evidence lands between unity and diversity but tends to indicate that there is considerable diversity among EC processes. Correlations between EC processes are rather low (e.g., working memory and flexibility = 0.15; inhibitory control and flexibility = 0.15) (Blokland et al., 2017; Lee, 2014; Macare et al., 2014). Intercorrelation across tasks tend to be greater among younger individuals compared to older ones, hinting at increasing diversity with age (Bardikoff and Sabbagh, 2021; Best and Miller, 2010; Brydges et al., 2014; Buss and Spencer, 2014; Friedman et al., 2011; Garon et al., 2008; Gulberti et al., 2014; Karr et al., 2018; Lehto and Elorinne, 2003; Miyake et al., 2000; Müller et al., 2012; Wiebe et al., 2011). The diversity argument is supported by the different patterns of neural activity associated with various EC processes (Chevrier and Schachar, 2010; Hannah and Aron, 2021). On the other hand, twin studies show that there tends to be considerable sharing of genetic influences across EC processes (Bollen, 2002; Friedman and Miyake, 2017). While the debate is ongoing, this review takes the position that diversity in EC is important. We revisit this point in the discussion.

2.2 Why are there so many different laboratory measures of EC?

EC tasks arise from two psychological traditions. Most have evolved from a clinical neuropsychology tradition with its focus on the localization of brain injury (e.g., WCST). Fewer tasks have developed from a cognitive or experimental psychology tradition (e.g., stop-signal paradigm). Neuropsychological tests acknowledge the multiplicity of cognitive processes that are invoked when performing a task in addition to the specific cognitive process purportedly being measured (task impurity). But most neuropsychologically inspired tasks do not use designs that allow distinction of the target process from the overall task performance.

By contrast, tasks evolving from the cognitive experimental tradition explicitly aim to isolate a single EC process by using multiple conditions (factorial design) to probe the integrity of the process. N-Back working memory, which manipulates working memory load to study the effect on immediate recall, and the Stop-Signal Task , which manipulates stop-signal delay (time between signal to respond and the signal to stop the response) to examine the effect on probability of stopping a response, are examples of cognitive experimental tasks. Critically, cognitive paradigms are interested in the difference in performance when conditions that manipulate the process under study are changed (the effect on recall of increasing working memory load, the effect on probability of stopping a response of variation in stop-signal delay). In cognitive experimental tasks, overall perfromance (main effect) is affected by multiple EC processes and nonspecific factors, such as motivation, comprehension, or anxiety, but the interaction between conditions supposedly reflects the basic process that the task was designed to study.

There are advantages and disadvantages of each approach. Experimental tasks are purer measures of a specific process but are usually longer to administer (because of the need for factorial design) and therefore tax motivation and attention. Neuropsychological tasks tend to be more familiar and available, but it is difficult to know which specific EC process is being measured and more difficult to construct equivalent versions for repeated measurement as are required in longitudinal and intervention research where the effect of practice could influence performance. The task impurity problem likely contributes to the higher inter-correlation among neuropsychological tasks than experimental cognitive tasks described above.

2.3 The role of self-rated EC skills

Should EC processes be measured using rating scales rather than laboratory measures as some have proposed (Barkley and Murphy, 2010; Biederman et al., 2008; Gioia et al., 2002)? Research shows poor agreement between executive skills rated by parents or by patients and the same apparent skills measured with laboratory tasks. Instead of predicting performance on laboratory tasks measuring EC processes, parent- and self-reported EC skills tend to correlate with ADHD symptom ratings (Anderson et al., 2002; Mcauley et al., 2010; Toplak et al., 2009;

Vriezen and Pigott, 2002). Apparently, ratings and laboratory measures reflect largely distinct phenomena. What a parent or teacher thinks is poor cognitive flexibility, for example, may not be the same as what is measured in the laboratory, and EC skills measured in the laboratory might not reflect the EC processes that are typically deployed in a person's day-to-day life. While rating scales may be less precise, they have the advantage of reflecting behavior over a far longer time frame than laboratory measures. Self-rating of poor attention could be helpful to practitioners in formulating a comprehensive understanding of a person's ADHD symptoms and impairment, whether or not it correlates with performance on laboratory tasks. Consequently, parent-rated, self-rated, and laboratory measures of EC skills might each contribute to a complete understanding of a person's ADHD symptoms (Biederman et al., 2008; Dhillon et al., 2020; Toplak et al., 2009). This review, however, focuses exclusively on laboratory measures of EC.

3 Hypotheses for the role of EC in ADHD

Insert Table 1 about here

3.1 EC deficits are commonly found in ADHD

There is an extensive body of research demonstrating inferior performance on EC measures in participants with an ADHD diagnosis compared with the performance of typically developing age-matched peers (see Pievsky and McGrath [2018] for a meta-analysis of meta-analyses). People with an ADHD diagnosis have deficits in a wide range of EC processes, including verbal and visuospatial working memory (Ramos et al., 2020), response inhibition (Lipszyc and Schachar, 2010; Wright et al., 2014), the ability to shift one's attention from one task to another (Irwin et al., 2019), sustained attention (RTV; Kofler et al., 2013), delay aversion (Jackson and MacKillop, 2016; Sonuga-Barke et al., 2008), decision-making (Dekkers et al., 2022; Patros et al., 2016), verbal fluency (Gustavson et al., 2019), and planning (Patros et al., 2019). The overall size of the observed deficits is small to moderate (mean = 0.45; SD = 0.27) with estimates ranging from a low of 0.35 (set shifting) to a high of 0.66 (RTV) (Pievsky and McGrath, 2018). In other words, variation in an individual person's EC explains only a modest amount of variation in their ADHD symptom severity. EC deficits are more pronounced in younger individuals with ADHD (Pievsky and McGrath, 2018), coinciding with the age at which they are most challenged by academic tasks and self-regulation (Beauchaine et al., 2018).

What this impressive body of research does not prove is that one EC process is more critical to the understanding of ADHD than any other (c.f., Castellanos and Tannock, 2002). Many rather than few EC deficits are found in individuals with ADHD, with each one helping to explain a small-to-medium amount of the variation in ADHD symptom severity. How theories of ADHD can accommodate this multiplicity of EC deficits is discussed below.

3.2 EC deficits confirm an ADHD diagnosis

ADHD is a diagnosis based on descriptions of child behavior in various settings gathered from parents, teachers, and other knowledgeable informants, along with a practitioner's direct observation and judgement. In making the diagnosis, the clinician considers age-appropriateness, impairment, other psychopathologies, and the broader social, psychological, and academic context along with the severity and persistence of ADHD symptoms. But there

are circumstances when a more objective way of making an ADHD diagnosis is desirable (Groom et al., 2016; Hamadache et al., 2021). There is often disagreement between mothers and fathers and/or between parents and teachers on the presence and severity of ADHD traits and therefore on the appropriateness of an ADHD diagnosis. Disagreements arise for various reasons. Impressions of ADHD traits can be influenced by the mood of the informant, their familiarity with normal child development, or the presence of co-occurring child behaviors, such as aggression, anxiety, or social-skills deficits (Abikoff et al., 1993; Molina et al., 1998; Schachar et al., 1986). Under these circumstances, clinicians desire objective means of diagnosis. Unfortunately, individual EC measures, even the ones that seem to best predict ADHD, fall far short of the sensitivity and specificity needed for a valid diagnostic test (Zakzanis, 2001). For example, an effect size of 0.5 for the difference between ADHD and control cases in a single measure of EC corresponds to an overlap between ADHD-diagnosed and typically developing children of 66.6%. Stated another way, only 33.4% of people with an ADHD diagnosis would have performance that falls outside of the range exhibited by age-matched, typically developing controls. The other 66.7% would be false negatives: Their performance would be within the normal range on that measure of EC. Moreover, a substantial proportion of typically developing children would perform poorly and be false positives for an ADHD diagnosis. Raising diagnostic thresholds to reduce false positives among unaffected children would reduce the ability to correctly detect ones who are truly affected .

One intriguing possibility is that a more sensitive and specific diagnostic test can be constructed by measuring multiple EC deficits, rather than any single one, or by combining behavioral and EC measures (Nikolas et al., 2019; Tallberg et al., 2019). For example, Solanto et al. (2001) found that the combination of a measure of delay aversion and a measure of response inhibition correctly classified more individuals with ADHD than either measure alone. It is not clear whether this increase in accuracy indicates that a) some ADHD participants have one kind of EC deficit while others have a different deficit, as argued in Sonuga-Barke's (2002, 2003) dual-pathway model; b) whether the combination of two particular deficits is critical; or c) whether multiple measures improve precision because they generate a more precise estimate of cognitive deficit. There are not many studies addressing what might be called the EC-profile question. Given the considerable number of EC measures, far more of this kind of research will be necessary to validate a diagnostic test. Using multiple EC measures to construct deficit profiles is discussed further below.

3.3 EC measures can clarify diagnosis in the presence of comorbidity

Comorbidity is the co-occurrence of two or more distinct disorders in a particular patient at the same time. This is not a rare event in the case of ADHD. In fact, most people diagnosed with ADHD meet the criteria for one or more concurrent disorder, such as oppositional defiant disorder, conduct disorder, anxiety disorder, or a learning disability (Faraone et al., 2021). Comorbidity challenges the practitioner to determine which of the comorbid disorders is the correct or primary diagnosis.

The comorbidity of ADHD and autism spectrum disorder (ASD) is a good example of the challenge presented by comorbidity. Until *DSM*–*5*, a diagnosis of ASD precluded another diagnosis (a hierarchical diagnostic rule). With *DSM*–*5*, it became possible to make more than

one diagnosis in the presence of ASD. This nosological shift revealed the high comorbidity of ADHD and ASD (ASD+ADHD). Individuals with an ASD diagnosis present with comorbid ADHD in 40%–70% of cases (Antshel and Russo, 2019; Grzadzinski et al., 2016; Joshi et al., 2017; Lyall et al., 2017; Mutluer et al., 2022). Even those who do not meet the criteria for comorbid ADHD show high levels of ADHD traits (Pehlivanidis et al., 2020). The overlap of ASD and ADHD is asymmetrical: More ASD cases exhibit comorbid ADHD than ADHD cases exhibit a formal ASD diagnosis or ASD traits, but many people with ADHD have marked social-skills deficits of the type that can be seen in ASD (Luteijn et al., 2000; Nijmeijer et al., 2009; Pehlivanidis et al., 2020).

The high rate of comorbid ASD+ADHD raises numerous important clinical and theoretical questions. There are different possibilitied. The ADHD diagnosis given to those with ASD could represent a true comorbidity which carries the clinical and etiological features of ADHD or it could be a phenocopy of ADHD, with none of the clinical or etiological correlates typical of ADHD. A third possibility is that ASD+ADHD is a condition that differs from both ASD and ADHD and has its own distinct correlates (Caron and Rutter, 1991). One way to determine which of these hypotheses is accurate is to see if the correlates (biomarkers) of ADHD traits found among ASD patients are the same as the correlates of ADHD traits found among ADHD patients who do not have an ASD diagnosis. If a particular individual has true comorbid ASD+ADHD, then that individual should display the biomarkers of both conditions (e.g., they show biomarkers of ASD but not ADHD), then the conclusion could be reached that the ADHD was an epiphenomenon of ASD — something that looks like ADHD but is not. These distinctions could have implications for treatment and the scientific understanding of ASD+ADHD.

We would understand comorbid ADHD and ASD better if there were distinct EC biomarkers of ASD and ADHD. According to some researchers, people with a diagnosis of ADHD have poorer response inhibition and sustained attention than those with ASD (Antshel and Russo, 2019; Corbett et al., 2009; Craig et al., 2015; Sanz-Cervera et al., 2015), individuals with ASD exhibit worse cognitive flexibility and planning than those with ADHD (Craig et al., 2015; Happé et al., 2006; Lukito et al., 2017; Salcedo-Marin et al., 2013) and those with ASD+ADHD show all of these deficits. This pattern of EC deficits supports the conclusion that ASD+ADHD is a true comorbidity. However, these conclusions are based on indirect comparisons, with individuals with ADHD compared to typically developing controls (Lipszyc and Schachar, 2010; Pievsky and McGrath, 2018; Pineda-Alhucema et al., 2018) and those diagnosed with ASD similarly compared to control subjects (Demetriou et al., 2018). A better understanding of the distinct EC profiles of these two disorders requires direct comparison of individuals with ASD, those with ADHD, as well as control subjects in order to control for comorbidity, experimental tasks, choice of performance metric, testing conditions (e.g., in or out of an MRI machine), age, sex, and medication status during testing (Buti et al., 2011).

We conducted a scoping review and meta-analysis of studies in which there was a direct comparison of participants with a diagnosis of ADHD or ASD along with a control group of typically developing children of the same age with neither ADHD or ASD. We found 58 studies involving a total of 9,923 ADHD, ASD, and control participants (Townes et al., in press).

Although this is an impressive body of research, its limitations were readily apparent. There was considerable variation in the EC skills that were measured and in the indices of performance derived from each EC measure. Response inhibition was the most frequently studied EC process (N = 32 studies), followed by working memory (N = 20), focused attention (N = 18), flexibility (N = 12)= 15) and planning (N = 12). However, a wide array of measures for each EC was employed and different performance indices were reported for each skill, making the synthesis of the literature unconvincing. Ninety-eight separate tasks were involved in these studies, including the Go/No-Go task (N= 11), WCST (N = 9), Stroop Color Word Test (N = 6), CPT (N = 7), CANTAB Spatial Working Memory Task (N = 6), and Stop-Signal Task (N = 5). Our meta-analysis found no differences between ASD and ADHD in any EC skill, although people with ADHD and those with ASD performed worse than controls in all domains except planning. The largest of the five studies reporting on response inhibition using the Stop-Signal Task (Karalunas et al., 2018) suggested that individuals with an ASD diagnosis had a deficit in response inhibition compared to people with an ADHD diagnosis, even when controlling for comorbid ADHD (see also Van Hulst et al., 2018). But two studies found no difference in response inhibition between people with ASD, those with ADHD, or controls (Kuijper et al., 2015, 2017), and one study reported that individuals with ADHD, but not ASD, showed a deficit in response inhibition (Albajara Sáenz et al., 2020). Few studies included a group with ASD+ADHD (Demetriou et al., 2018; Pievsky and McGrath, 2018; Pineda-Alhucema et al., 2018).

We took a closer look at the difference between ADHD and ASD in a comparison of children with ASD and those with ADHD on measures of response inhibition, reaction time variability, and reaction time using a large sample of clinical cases and a general-population sample (Schachar et al., 2023b). (Our study did not include putative EC markers of ASD, such as measures of cognitive flexibility, planning, or emotion processing.) In both clinical and community samples, individuals with ASD and with ADHD were compared to each other and to controls. As in the Karalunas et al. (2018) study, we found comparable deficits in response inhibition in individuals with ASD and with ADHD compared to controls. Similarly, reaction time variability was greater in both ASD and ADHD patients than control participants. We did not observe group differences in reaction time. When we controlled for ADHD traits among individuals in the ASD group, EC deficits were reduced to non-significance, showing that the observed EC deficits were largely manifestations of comorbid ADHD, not of ASD. By contrast, the EC deficits in the ADHD group remained after controlling for ASD traits, for which we used a rating scale of social communications. There was a clear correlation between the severity of ADHD traits and the EC abilities that we measured in this study and that relationship was similar across participant in the ASD, ADHD and control groups (no statistical interaction was seen between ADHD trait severity and diagnosis of ASD, ADHD or controls). The more severe the ADHD traits, the greater the observed EC deficit. These results show that deficits in response inhibition and RTV are markers of ADHD traits across disorders. Stated another way, ADHD that presents as part of ASD carried the same implications for response inhibition and reaction time variability as did ADHD in the absence of ASD, suggesting that the ADHD found in individuals with ASD is a true comorbidity, rather than a non-specific epiphenomenon or feature unrelated to "primary" ADHD. On the other hand, people diagnosed with ASD who lack ADHD traits or symptoms did not show atypical inhibitory control or reaction time variability. Because ADHD

proved to be a trait that carried equivalent implications across disorders, our findings support dimensional notions of psychopathology over categorical ones. We have found the same general pattern with ADHD and comorbid anxiety (Korenblum et al., 2007), conduct disorders (Schachar and Tannock, 1995), and obsessive-compulsive disorder (OCD) (Mar et al., 2022). There is a need for similar research into the EC skills associated with comorbid ADHD in other conditions. Future research should examine whether the characteristics of ADHD traits, for example genetic or neural, are the same across disorders.

3.4 EC deficits are impairing

Practitioners and patients can see the impairing consequences of restless, inattentive, and impulsive behaviors more readily than they can judge the impairment associated with variation in EC abilities that are measured in a laboratory setting. However, research increasingly shows that EC skills predict academic, emotional, and mental health impairments (c.f., Barkley, 1991). For example, EC measures predict emotional dysregulation, even after controlling for ADHD traits (Groves et al., 2022); social skills, including the ability to read facial emotions (Jaisle et al., 2023); scholastic attainment, literacy and writing (Al Dahhan et al., 2022; Horowitz-Kraus, 2015; McDougal et al., 2022; Soto et al., 2021); and quality of life (Irwin et al., 2021). EC deficits predict ADHD-trait severity, and response to stress (Marko and Riečanský, 2018; Shields et al., 2016).

Using the data set in the comorbidity study described above, we estimated that ADHD is associated with a delay in development of about two years in response inhibition and reaction time variability compared to typically developing peers (Schachar et al., 2023b). A developmental lag of this size is substantial in children 6 to 14 years of age. And we found that the EC deficits in individuals with ADHD were as great as those found in children who suffered a closed head injury (Leblanc et al., 2005; Ornstein et al., 2013). By following children with brain injury, we learned that their EC deficits often moderate over time and normalize about two years after injury (Leblanc et al., 2005). By contrast, EC deficits in ADHD persist from childhood into adolescence (Mcauley et al., 2013). Taken together, these data suggest that EC deficits of the size found in ADHD are likely to be developmentally significant and impairing.

3.5 EC deficits predict outcome

Like ADHD itself, EC deficits tend to persist and predict future mental health and wellbeing (Brocki et al., 2010; Crosbie et al., 2013; Manfro et al., 2021). Yang et al. (2022) conducted a meta-analysis of 167 longitudinal studies involving 66,119 participants that addressed the relationship of EC abilities when first measured (baseline) and future mental health and found that baseline EC scores predicted ADHD, conduct disorder, oppositional defiant disorder, substance use, and depressive symptoms, but not anxiety symptoms. Predictions were significant but not strong and were greater in clinical samples than in community ones. There was little evidence for relationships between particular EC deficits and specific outcomes, except that so-called "hot" EC processes (those involving reward) were more strongly predictive of substance use and so-called "cold" EC processes were clearly associated with internalizing symptoms, like depression. Prediction was stronger in younger children than older children. Yang et al. found a clear gap in research into the effect of EC capabilities on individuals' outcomes beyond adolescence. In addition to the aforementioned outcomes, individuals with EC problems identified at a young age are less likely than their unaffected peers to attend school and more likely to have lower achievement, levels of literacy, and adult earnings (Allan et al., 2014; Alloway and Alloway, 2010; Blair and Razza, 2007; Deer et al., 2020; Devine et al., 2016; Manfro et al., 2021; Ribner et al., 2023; Tamm et al., 2021). EC problems identified early in life predict social-skills deficits later in life (Devine and Hughes, 2014; Rinsky and Hinshaw, 2011), worse physical and mental health, greater criminal activity, and a lower quality of life (Kenworthy et al., 2022; van der Plas et al., 2021).

3.6 EC skills play a role in medication response

Stimulants (methylphenidate and dextroamphetamine) are the most common drugs used to treat ADHD. These drugs are indirect dopaminergic and noradrenergic agonists, acting in prefrontal-cortex and striatal-catecholamine pathways. Stimulants significantly reduce the severity of ADHD behaviors and associated impairment (effect sizes of -0.78 for methylphenidate and -1.02 for amphetamines; Cortese et al., 2018). Within the range of the typical dosage (0.3 to 1.0 mg/kg), higher doses tend to have greater impact on ADHD symptoms, even though residual symptoms can remain even at higher doses.

If EC plays an important role in the mechanism of ADHD, then stimulants should have a beneficial impact on EC. That seems to be the case, although the impact on EC is less obvious than on ADHD behaviors (Cortese et al., 2018; Tamminga et al., 2016) and responses vary with the EC process being measured. Differential effects of stimulants on various EC skills could arise because different areas of the brain are "tuned" to distinct levels of dopamine activity, according to the Yerkes–Dodson law. Consequently, the beneficial effect of stimulants varies by EC process and dose (Williams and Goldman-Rakic, 1995; Witt et al., 2021; Zahrt et al., 1997), and can have maximal effect at lower doses than the dose that effects the greatest reduction in ADHD behavior (Tannock and Schachar, 1992;Tannock et al., 1995; Rubio Morell and Hernández Expósito, 2019).

The partial dissociation of behavioral and EC effects in drug response raises an important clinical question. Under typical clinical conditions, the dosage of stimulants is adjusted to address ADHD behaviors, not EC performance. If behavior and EC processes are optimized at different doses (higher for behavior; moderate for EC processes; Tannock et al., 1992, 1995), it is likely that EC is not optimized in clinical practice. This dissociation might explain why some EC skills, such as vigilance, divided attention, phasic and tonic alertness, response inhibition, and focused attention, are improved by medication (Fallon et al., 2017; Mckenzie et al., 2022; Scheres et al., 2003), but others, such as task-switching, are impaired (Rajala et al., 2020).

Consistent with the hypothesis that EC plays an etiological role in ADHD, EC skills measured before treatment begins predict both behavioral and cognitive response, but not in all ADHD cases or in all studies (Coghill et al., 2007; Fosco et al., 2021; Golubchik et al., 2019; Idema et al., 2021; Kapur, 2020a, 2020b; Mckenzie et al., 2022; Molitor and Langberg, 2017; Rubio Morell and Hernández Expósito, 2019; Scheres et al., 2003). A review of 25 relevant studies found that task performance was useful for predicting the response to treatment with methylphenidate (Molitor and Langberg, 2017). For example, Scheres et al. (2003) found that children with inferior inhibitory control prior to treatment benefited less from methylphenidate at standard

doses and needed higher doses for best symptom relief than children with better inhibition. More research is needed to better understand the dose-response relationship of stimulants on multiple EC processes in clinical practice and the potential for pretreatment EC performance to predict treatment response (Coghill, 2021).

3.7 EC training improves ADHD

If EC plays a central role in the mechanism of ADHD, improving EC directly through training or medication should "rescue" the deficit and improve ADHD symptoms. Lambez et al. (2020) reviewed studies of various non-drug interventions for EC deficits and ADHD. These therapies included neurofeedback (Van Doren et al., 2019), physical activity (Cerrillo-Urbina et al., 2015), cognitive training (Peñuelas-Calvo et al., 2022), and cognitive behavior therapy (CBT; Catalá-López et al., 2017). The effects on EC processes of these non-pharmacological interventions were comparable in medicated and unmedicated participants with an effect size of 0.67. Physical exercise showed the highest effect size of 0.93, comparable to the effect of pharmacological interventions. Cognitive training showed the lowest effect size of 0.45. CBT interventions and neurofeedback showed moderate effects (0.70). Non-drug interventions tended to affect inhibitory control the most and working memory the least, even though working memory has been targeted more often than other EC skills.

Westwood et al. (2023) conducted a meta-analysis of the rapidly growing literature involving computerized cognitive training (CCT). Of the 36 randomized control trials that met the inclusion criteria for their review, 17 studies focused on memory training. In studies where the informant was probably unaware of whether that participant was receiving active or placebo treatment (the gold standard in treatment studies), there was no effect on ratings of the patient's hyperactivity-impulsivity symptoms but there was a small improvement in their inattentiveness. Effects were larger when ADHD participants were assessed in the setting where the intervention was delivered. CCT improved working memory and visuospatial skills, but not other EC processes or academic outcomes (e.g., reading, arithmetic). There were some persistent effects in verbal working memory and reading comprehension — as well as in the ratings of EC skills — but Westwood et al. identified few relevant trials targeting these EC processes. The authors found no evidence that CCT training that targetted multiple EC at the same time was superior to working-memory training alone. The beneficial effect of cognitive rehabilitation appears to be greater for preschoolers than for school-age children with ADHD (Scionti et al., 2020). In summary, there is growing evidence that EC can be improved with nonpharmacological interventions, but to date, there is less evidence that improvement in EC performance predicts ADHD symptoms.

3.8 EC deficits play a mechanistic role in ADHD

ADHD fits the model of a multifactorial, threshold disorder with a major genetic component. Multiple common (single nucleotide polymorphisms [SNPs]), rare genetic (copy number variants [CNVs] and single nucleotide variants [SNVs]) variants contribute to ADHD, along with various environmental risk factors, which could act directly or indirectly via epigenetic mechanisms (Faraone and Larsson, 2019; Castelo et al., 2022; Massera et al., 2023). According to this theory, genetic variation, brain injury, or environmental influences are not the proximal causes of restlessness, inattentiveness, or impulsiveness. Instead, various risks increase the likelihood of alterations in proteins, brain structures and neurotransmitters that support vital neural functions such as EC, and it is the variation in EC processes that causes ADHD traits (Bernier et al., 2012; Castelo et al., 2022; Castro et al., 2023; Diamond, 2020; Galván and Rahdar, 2013; Shields et al., 2019; Yan and Rein, 2022; Zelazo, 2020).

Insert Figure 2: Multifactorial threshold model of ADHD

Individual genetic variants that have been identified in ADHD account for a trivial amount of the variance in ADHD trait severity across patients. However, the combination of these variants explains a significant, although small amount of variance in ADHD (Green et al., 2022). A considerable proportion of the variants that influence ADHD (84%–98%) is shared with other psychiatric disorders (ASD, schizophrenia, and major depressive disorder), and with traits such as smoking initiation, educational attainment, and insomnia (Demontis et al., 2023). Among the variants associated with ADHD, there is an overrepresentation of those that are upregulated during early embryonic development and those that are expressed in the dorsolateral prefrontal cortex and in midbrain dopaminergic neurons. These are the brain regions that are involved in EC processes and in stimulant effects. To date, only a small proportion of the estimated number of variants affecting ADHD have been found, but more are expected to be revealed by whole genome sequencing.

According to the EC theory of ADHD, EC skills are influenced by the genetic risks for ADHD and variation in EC skills is manifest in ADHD behavioral traits. If so, EC skills ought to be heritable and share genetic risk with ADHD. Twin studies indicate that EC skills are indeed heritable (Blokland et al., 2017; Friedman and Miyake, 2017; Guimaraes et al., 2020; Gustavson et al., 2022). And polygenic risk scores for ADHD (a measure of disease risk arising from common genetic variants) are associated with EC processes, such as attention; working memory; and facial memory (Aguilar-Lacasaña et al., 2022; Demontis et al., n.d.; Maier et al., 2015; Moses et al., 2022; Nigg et al., 2018). The total number (burden) of CNVs that are found in ADHD patients also predict inhibition and sustained attention (Zarrei et al., 2023). And there is growing evidence that the statistical association between polygenic risks scores for ADHD and ADHD symptom severity is reduced when variation in EC processes are included as mediators in the analyses. This kind of mediation analysis indicates that genetic risks generate variation in EC skills such as working memory, reaction time variability, and inhibition, and that this variation in EC skills predicts variation among individuals in ADHD behavior (Nigg et al., 2018; Moses et al., 2022).

4 Discussion

4.1 Summary of evidence in support of Executive Control theory of ADHD

This review finds support for many of the hypotheses derived from the EC theory of ADHD. There is consistent evidence that children and teens with ADHD perform more poorly on a range of EC processes than their age-matched peers who don't have ADHD, supporting the most fundamental hypothesis of the EC theory of ADHD. Those with an ADHD diagnosis show a lag in development of about two years or more in EC skills, and the lag seems to be greatest among younger individuals. EC deficits are impairing and persistent and they compromise future scholastic achievement, social function, and mental health. There is wide variation in EC skills in the general population and in affected individuals, with a considerable overlap of the two groups making the boundary between healthy and impaired EC difficult to discern. Many typically developing individuals have EC performance in the same range as those with ADHD and many with ADHD have EC in the normal range. The relationship of ADHD and EC appears to be quantitative: The greater the EC deficit, the more severe are the ADHD traits. The quantitative relationship of ADHD traits and EC holds across ADHD and unaffected individuals which indicates that the trait-based model of psychopathology can be extended to include EC measures.

Although some EC deficits show larger effect size than others, no single EC process, task, or performance metric is definitively more strongly and reliably associated with ADHD than any other, and none explains more than a modest amount of the variation in ADHD traits among individuals. The association of EC processes and ADHD is not sufficiently strong for a single EC measure to diagnose ADHD. By contrast, there is evidence that combinations of EC skills deficits can distinguish affected from unaffected individuals with greater sensitivity and specificity than deficits in single EC abilities. Which combination of EC measures to use and how they should be combined (e.g., profiles, clusters, or latent traits) remains to be determined.

Further research is needed to determine if ADHD and other mental health conditions have similar EC deficits. So far, it looks as if the apparent overlap in EC performance between ADHD and other conditions such as ASD arises from ADHD traits that are commonly found in the other condition. When ADHD or ADHD traits are taken into account, commonly comorbid disorders such as ASD do not show the same EC performance deficits that are observed in ADHD. However, only a limited number of EC processes have been studied in ADHD and comorbid conditions with adequate control over comorbidity at a disorder and at a trait level (c.f., Karalunas et al., 2018). The lack of control over comorbidity in cross-disorder studies of EC limit conclusions about whether there are EC measures that can distinguish ADHD from another disorder.

This review does not support any of the existing theories that argue for a necessary and sufficient deficit in a particular EC process in ADHD patients. For example, Barkley's (1997) posited that response inhibition is the central neurocognitive problem in ADHD. However, the size of the deficit in response inhibition in ADHD patients is comparable to that of other EC processes and is not the largest effect seen. That honor belongs to RTV an index of EC that deserves far more research (Epstein et al., 2022; Sonuga-Barke and Castellanos, 2007). Models that stress the leading role of working memory or error processing find no more support than those that emphasize inhibition (Castellanos and Tannock, 2002). On the other hand, models that incorporate multiple EC processes better fit existing evidence (Sergeant, 2005; Sonuga-Barke, 2003).

Stimulant medication impacts EC performance and behavior. But EC processes are often optimized at a lower dose of stimulant medication than behavior is, suggesting an incomplete overlap of biological mechanisms. Given that drug response is usually adjusted to optimize behavioral improvement, EC is unlikely to be optimized in clinical practice. Little is known about the long-term implications for learning and behavior of a cognitively oriented dose-optimization strategy. EC measures partially predict who will have a favorable behavioral response to drug treatment, but again, a limited range of EC processes have been evaluated as predictive markers.

Research suggests that games that train EC processes can improve their performance in various cognitive domains after playing video games for brief periods (e.g., Green and Bavelier, 2003), but replication has been inconsistent (Boot et al., 2008; Sala et al., 2018; Sala and Gobet, 2019). So far, there has been little evidence for short- or long-term reduction in ADHD behaviors of computerized cognitive intervention. Typically, training has targeted a single cognitive process, most commonly, working memory. Given the heterogeneity in EC performance deficits among those with a diagnosis of ADHD, it is not surprising that the effects of such narrowly focused interventions might be inadequate. However, there is little evidence that targeting multiple EC processes improves behavioral outcomes (Westwood et al., 2023).

Evidence is mounting that EC processes mediate the link between underlying genetic or neural risks and ADHD behaviors. Both ADHD and performance on EC tasks are heritable, and they are associated cross-sectionally and prospectively. ADHD and EC processes share some genetic risks, neural correlates, and neurochemical pathways. However, the relationships between genetic risk, EC processes, and ADHD appear weak given current evidence: Neither EC performance nor genetic risk factors individually explain more than a modest amount of the variation among people in ADHD symptom severity.

4.2 Research agenda

4.2.1 Improving our understanding of EC in ADHD

Despite the progress that has been made, gaps remain in the basic understanding of EC and in the measurement of EC skills. There has been a tendency to "reify" EC processes. For example, the N-Back task is understood as a measure of working memory; the Stop-Signal Task , a measure of response inhibition; and so on. It is necessary to keep in mind that the EC processes measured in these tasks reflect the outcome of multiple interacting subprocesses. For example, the ability to stop a speeded response involves variation in preparing to execute a response, preparing for the possibility that you might have to stop, stopping per se, detecting performance errors, and adjusting to these errors. The multiplicity of subprocesses involved in EC processes sets up the possibility of convergence and pleiotropy in genetic, neural, and psychopathological characteristics of EC.

For example, multiple EC processes might contribute to ADHD because they converge along a common neural pathway. Thus, poor performance on two different EC tasks could predict an ADHD diagnosis because both EC tasks share some common subprocess, such as error detection. A cognitive pathway, such as deficient response inhibition, might be a result of problems in one subprocess in one disorder or affected individual (e.g., deficient error detection) and a different subprocess in another disorder or affected individual (e.g., inefficient stopping process), creating the impression of pleiotropy. An apparently common EC deficit could arise in diverse disorders for different reasons (poor preparation to stop in ADHD versus sluggish information processing in schizophrenia). Additionally, there is both degeneracy and redundancy in the neural substrates of EC. Multiple neuronal systems can support a single EC process or subprocess (many-to-one) and a single neuronal system can support multiple EC processes (one-to-many). The absence of a oneto-one mapping of structure and function arising from degeneracy and/or redundancy helps account for the recovery of cognitive processes after injury but adds complexity to the study of structure-function relationships (Noppeney et al., 2004). Imaging of performance on EC tasks that allow for the separation of the various subprocesses that occur within a single trial will facilitate needed research into the subprocesses involved in the performance of EC tasks relevant to ADHD (Chevrier and Schachar, 2020). Future research could examine which of the EC subprocesses are more strongly and specifically associated with ADHD than with other disorders, and which are more biologically informative and therefore the best targets for discovery, assessment, intervention, or personalized risk prediction.

4.2.2 Improving EC measurement

Substantial strides have been made in standardizing experimental measures for use in mental health research (NIH Toolbox)(Gershon et al., 2010; Karr et al., 2023; Taylor et al., 2022). However, the ADHD research community needs a set of measures that is both pertinent to ADHD in particular and to mental health in general in order to facilitate cross-disorder comparisons. The tasks need to be suitable for children, teens, and adults if developmental trajectories are to be studied. Creating standardized measures for EC processes would allow for better estimates of patients' developmental lag to facilitate evaluation, and the change over time to estimate treatment effects.

The ADHD/EC toolkit needs to include instructions for standardizing administration, task parameters, and performance metrics to facilitate the amalgamation of data. Verbruggen and the community of stop-signal-task researchers (2019) proposed such a set of parameters to guide research, including direction about how the task should be administered and analyzed, definitions of outliers and deficit, and standard language for labelling critical variables to facilitate data synthesis. Similar guidelines need to be developed for other ADHD-related EC tasks. Any proposed experimental guidelines need to consider the unique constraints of research with children and youth, especially those with mental health challenges. Tasks should be evaluated to see if they can be shortened without the loss of validity and accuracy. Priority should be given to EC measures that can be modified for use in animals and in neuroimaging to facilitate studies that recreate and rescue attention deficits that are seen in ADHD and other disorders to advance understanding of the effects of neurotransmitters, neural substrates, and medications on attention (Clatworthy et al., 2009; Hvoslef-Eide et al., 2015; Liu et al., 2017; Skandali et al., 2018).

Ideally, the ADHD/EC toolkit should be available on mobile devices to support populationbased and longitudinal research (Crosbie and Schachar, 2001; Parsey et al., 2021). Game-like versions of laboratory tasks can increase participant engagement and allow for a longer and repeated testing in order to generate more reliable measures of EC performance. But attention must be paid to the precision of measurement. Tablets and cell phones are not designed to collect reaction time data in milliseconds, although efforts have been made in this regard (https://www.neurobs.com/menu_presentation/menu_features/mobile). A lack of precision will result in increased measurement error and the loss of statistical power, requiring larger study samples.

4.2.3 Optimizing research design

The field needs to move beyond the study of ADHD patients in comparison with typically developing peer control subjects using a limited set of EC measures. We now need direct comparisons of ADHD and other disorders, particularly those that are most frequently comorbid with ADHD such as ASD and Tourette syndrome. More and more studies feature clustering strategies of various kinds. These studies should go beyond behavioral measures to included measures of performance on EC tasks and other levels of the multifactorial model of ADHD described above. These studies would help determine the extent of EC pleiotropy, the sharing of biological mechanisms and could discover novel groups of patients who share EC, structural, genetic and other informative characteristics (Kushki et al., 2019). Studies of EC in comorbid disorders will require the measurement of comorbid traits as well as EC, and they should include EC measures that are hypothesized to be related to the comorbid disorders (e.g., social cognition or cognitive flexibility in ASD). These studies could yield insight into the mechanism of ADHD, clarify the nature of comorbidity, and help refine nosology. Longitudinal studies are needed to evaluate the association between EC deficits detected early in life and later ADHD traits and EC skills. The combination of family and longitudinal designs will help identify EC deficits that confer risk for development of ADHD and other psychopathologies.

Drug and non-drug treatment studies should consider a person's unique profile of EC strengths and deficits (a precision EC approach). To date, drug effects on EC processes have been assessed as if all cases of ADHD have the same EC deficits — an observation that is not supported by this review. Many EC deficits improve with medication, but some may deteriorate; drug effects might depend, in part, on baseline EC performance, which undoubtedly differs among participants (Golubchik et al., 2019). The consequences of the differential impact of stimulants on EC and on behavior require further study. The lack of a precision EC approach might account for the failure of cognitive interventions to improve the behaviors associated with ADHD. Future digital therapeutic research should be tailored to each person's actual EC deficits rather than assume that everyone has the same deficits as current studies tend to do. Training to improve an EC process in someone who has no problem in that EC skill might be both a waste of effort and detrimental to patient engagement. Treating every participant in a clinical study as if they have the same EC performance deficigts would decrease the measured impact of these interventions.

4.1.4 Omni-EC deficit model of ADHD

The parallels between the findings on EC summarized above and the current state of genetic research into ADHD are striking and suggest directions for future EC research. Early expectations for genetic research into ADHD were great because twin studies showed that ADHD was highly heritable. Candidate gene research in ADHD was predicated on the notion that one or a few genes conferred risk for ADHD (oligogenic) and that these genes would likely be ones that involved neurotransmitters, given the known effect of stimulant medication. However, few of these initial findings could be replicated (Dumas-Mallet et al., 2016). We now know that there are many genetic risks for ADHD and that they involve a wide range of

potential biological pathways. There is no "gene for ADHD." The largest contribution to the ADHD phenotype comes from the cumulative impact of common variants, those that are found in more than 1% of the population — not just in affected individuals. There is a small contribution from rarer CNVs and SNVs found in less than 1% of the population. Some risks for ADHD are inherited from parents, and some arise *de novo* (Lionel et al., 2011).

Although certain genetic risks might be more penetrant (have a greater effect) than others, for the most part each one makes a very small contribution to the phenotype. Collectively, common variants contribute significantly to the risk of developing ADHD, as is evident in polygenic risk scores (Demontis et al., 2023). Genetics researchers predict that studies with larger samples and more precise genetic methods such as whole genome sequencing will lead to the identification of more risk variants. From what we know currently, there is both a many-to-one relationship (equifinality) and a one-to-many relationship (pleiotropy) linking genetic variants to various mental and physical health conditions. Some of this apparent genetic heterogeneity will be reduced when we discover the way that genes effect biological mechanisms. ADHD is rightly considered a genetically complex trait. But rather than being daunted by this genetic complexity, the field is looking toward a time when progressively more sensitive genetics techniques will increase the amount of variation in ADHD that we can explain.

Similarly, ADHD is a cognitively complex disorder, which might be termed "omni-EC" (all EC processes). Just as single genetic variants do not account for much of the variance in ADHD, no single "candidate" EC process explains more than a moderate amount of the variance in ADHD. It is important to note, however, that the explanatory power of a single EC measure, although modest, is far greater than that of any single genetic variant. In that respect, ECs have narrowed the search for pathways leading from first causes to the disease phenotype. Both genetic risks and EC show pleiotropy and equifinality. Individual EC processes seem to confer risk for various psychopathologies and different EC deficits clearly converge on single disorders.

Just as polygenic risk scores have increased the power of genetics to predict disease risk, there is preliminary evidence that the cumulative effect of multiple EC deficits explains more of the variation in ADHD in individual patients than does any single EC measure. And, like genes, we do not yet understand how EC processes combine to influence ADHD. EC effects could be additive, interactive, or multiplicative and are highly likely to be influenced by sex and environmental factors, such as neural trauma, social experience, and environmental toxins, in the same way that genes are affected by epigenetic factors.

4.1.5 Multi-EC risk index

The parallels between genetic and EC theories of ADHD suggest strategies for combining the effects of all EC deficits to improve the prediction of psychopathology, treatment response, and outcome, and to explore similarities and differences among mental disorders (Anttila et al., 2018). The effects of multiple EC deficits could be combined by putting each EC performance measure on a common metric, such as T-scores (using population norms). T-scores could be used to create an index of overall EC impairment or to identify profiles of EC strengths and weaknesses that distinguish ADHD from typically developing children and from those with other

disorders. Total EC-risk scores and profiles could be tested for their ability to predict risk for ADHD in high-risk populations, as well as outcome, treatment response, and various biological characteristics. In addition to multi-EC indices, the field could use clustering strategies to find associations among EC processes and biologically informative characteristics. For example, all EC processes that predict cortical thickness, future comorbidity, learning difficulties, or a particular genetic pathway could be considered as a cluster for further genetic study.

Most of what we have learned about EC and ADHD has been based on relatively small-scale studies involving one or a few EC skills. The future will require larger samples, greater standardization of measures and reporting, and intensive collaboration akin to the Pschiatric Genetics Consortium (PGC) or Enigma consortia (De La Vega and Bustamante, 2018; Xiong et al., 2019).

5 Conclusion

The early protagonists of the EC theory of ADHD would hopefully be satisfied with the progress that we have made since their groundbreaking insights (Douglas, 1972). There is now a substantial body of evidence supporting the key hypotheses derived from the EC theory of ADHD, and EC measures are being applied in genetic, neuroimaging, and therapeutic research. Understanding of EC offers considerable advantages in the study of psychopathology. EC measures can be standardized more easily than clinical assessments, thereby reducing the need for training of research staff and improving the reliability of data in the kind of cross-site studies that are required to address outstanding issues. EC processes are not directly focused on psychopathology, which reduces ethical and participant concerns (especially in general-population and classroom-based studies), and they can be useful in imaging research, because they can be directly related to measures of function, which can be parsed into subprocesses.

The EC-deficit hypothesis for ADHD has generated multiple insights into the role of EC in psychopathology and offers hope for sharpening our understanding of the causes of this common, costly, and impairing mental health condition. Fundamentally, EC processes are links between the suspected genetic and neural causes of ADHD and the disorder itself. They are a bridge between biology and action, thought and choice (Martín-Signes et al., 2019). Even if we were to identify all genetic, neural, and other correlates of ADHD, we would still be left with the challenge of explaining how those risks "cause" ADHD. ADHD is a problem of self-control that is best studied by examining self-control. Better understanding EC can play a significant role in bridging this gap.

6 Acknowledgements

The author acknowledges and thanks Gordon Logan, Jennifer Crosbie, Paul Arnold, Christie Burton, and various students for years of discussion, advice, and research collaboration, as well as the Canadian Institutes of Health Research, Ontario Brain Institute, Ontario Mental Health Foundation, and TD Bank for their support our research.

7 References

- Abikoff, H., Courtney, M., Pelham, W. E., and Koplewicz, H. S. (1993). Teachers' ratings of disruptive behaviors: The influence of halo effects. *Journal of Abnormal Child Psychology*, *21*(5), 519–533. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00916317
- Aguilar-Lacasaña, S., Vilor-Tejedor, N., Jansen, P. R., López-Vicente, M., Bustamante, M., Burgaleta, M., Sunyer, J., and Alemany, S. (2022). Polygenic risk for ADHD and ASD and their relation with cognitive measures in school children. *Psychological Medicine*, 52(7), 1356–1364. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0033291720003189
- Al Dahhan, N. Z., Halverson, K., Peek, C. P., Wilmot, D., D'Mello, A., Romeo, R. R., Meegoda, O., Imhof, A., Wade, K., Sridhar, A., Falke, E., Centanni, T. M., Gabrieli, J. D. E., and Christodoulou, J. A. (2022). Dissociating executive function and ADHD influences on reading ability in children with dyslexia. *Cortex; a Journal Devoted to the Study of the Nervous System and Behavior*, *153*, 126–142. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.CORTEX.2022.03.025
- Albajara Sáenz, A., Septier, M., Van Schuerbeek, P., Baijot, S., Deconinck, N., Defresne, P., Delvenne, V., Passeri, G., Raeymaekers, H., Salvesen, L., Victoor, L., Villemonteix, T., Willaye, E., Peigneux, P., and Massat, I. (2020). ADHD and ASD: distinct brain patterns of inhibition-related activation? *Translational Psychiatry*, *10*(1). https://doi.org/10.1038/s41398-020-0707-z
- Allan, N. P., Hume, L. E., Allan, D. M., Farrington, A. L., and Lonigan, C. J. (2014). Relations between inhibitory control and the development of academic skills in preschool and kindergarten: A meta-analysis. *Developmental Psychology*, 50(10), 2368–2379. https://doi.org/10.1037/A0037493
- Alloway, T. P., and Alloway, R. G. (2010). Investigating the predictive roles of working memory and IQ in academic attainment. *Journal of Experimental Child Psychology*, *106*(1), 20–29. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JECP.2009.11.003
- American Psychiatric Association. (1980). *Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders* (3rd ed.).
- American Psychiatric Association. (2013). *Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders* (5th ed.).
- Anderson, V. A., Anderson, P., Northam, E., Jacobs, R., and Mikiewicz, O. (2002). Relationships between cognitive and behavioral measures of executive function in children with brain disease. *Child Neuropsychology*, 8(4), 231–240. https://doi.org/10.1076/chin.8.4.231.13509
- Antshel, K. M., and Russo, N. (2019). Autism Spectrum Disorders and ADHD: Overlapping Phenomenology, Diagnostic Issues, and Treatment Considerations. *Current Psychiatry Reports*, *21*(5). https://doi.org/10.1007/s11920-019-1020-5

- Anttila, V., Bulik-Sullivan, B., Finucane, H. K., Walters, R. K., Bras, J., Duncan, L., Escott-Price, V., Falcone, G. J., Gormley, P., Malik, R., Patsopoulos, N. A., Ripke, S., Wei, Z., Yu, D., Lee, P. H., Turley, P., Grenier-Boley, B., Chouraki, V., Kamatani, Y., ... Neale, B. M. (2018). Analysis of shared heritability in common disorders of the brain. *Science (New York, N.Y.), 360*(6395). https://doi.org/10.1126/SCIENCE.AAP8757
- Arcos-Burgos, M., and Acosta, M. T. (2007). Tuning major gene variants conditioning human behavior: the anachronism of ADHD. *Current Opinion in Genetics and Development*, 17(3), 234–238. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.GDE.2007.04.011
- Baddeley, A. D., and Hitch, G. (1974). Working memory. In G. H. Bower (Ed.), *The psychology of learning and motivation: Advances in research and theory : Vol. Working memory* (pp. 47–89). Academic Press.
- Banich, M. T., Mackiewicz, K. L., Depue, B. E., Whitmer, A. J., Miller, G. A., and Heller, W. (2009).
 Cognitive control mechanisms, emotion and memory: A neural perspective with implications for psychopathology. *Neuroscience and Biobehavioral Reviews*, 33(5), 613–630. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neubiorev.2008.09.010
- Bardikoff, N., and Sabbagh, M. A. (2021). Multidimensional Reasoning Can Promote 3-Year-Old Children's Performance on the Dimensional Change Card Sort Task. *Child Development*, 92(5), e924–e939. https://doi.org/10.1111/CDEV.13533
- Bari, A., and Robbins, T. W. (2013). Inhibition and impulsivity: Behavioral and neural basis of response control. In *Progress in Neurobiology* (Vol. 108, pp. 44–79). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pneurobio.2013.06.005
- Barkley, R. A. (1991). The ecological validity of laboratory and analogue assessment methods of ADHD symptoms. *Journal of Abnormal Child Psychology*, *19*(2), 149–178. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00909976
- Barkley, R. A. (1997). Behavioral inhibition, sustained attention, and executive functions: Constructing a unifying theory of ADHD. *Psychological Bulletin*, 121(1), 65–94. https://doi.org/10.1037/0033-2909.121.1.65
- Barkley, R. A., and Murphy, K. R. (2010). Impairment in occupational functioning and adult ADHD: The predictive utility of executive function (EF) ratings versus EF tests. *Archives of Clinical Neuropsychology*, 25(3), 157–173. https://doi.org/10.1093/arclin/acq014
- Beauchaine, T. P., Constantino, J. N., and Hayden, E. P. (2018). Psychiatry and developmental psychopathology: Unifying themes and future directions. *Comprehensive Psychiatry*, 87, 143–152. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.COMPPSYCH.2018.10.014
- Bernier, A., Carlson, S. M., Deschênes, M., and Matte-Gagné, C. (2012). Social factors in the development of early executive functioning: A closer look at the caregiving environment. *Developmental Science*, 15(1), 12–24. https://doi.org/10.1111/J.1467-7687.2011.01093.X
- Best, J. R., and Miller, P. H. (2010). A Developmental Perspective on Executive Function. *Child Development*, *81*(6), 1641–1660. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-8624.2010.01499.x

- Biederman, J., Mick, E., Fried, R., Wilner, N., Spencer, T. J., and Faraone, S. V. (2011). Are stimulants effective in the treatment of executive function deficits? Results from a randomized double blind study of OROS-methylphenidate in adults with ADHD. *European Neuropsychopharmacology : The Journal of the European College of Neuropsychopharmacology, 21*(7), 508–515. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.euroneuro.2010.11.005
- Biederman, J., Petty, C. R., Fried, R., Black, S., Faneuil, A., Doyle, A. E., Seidman, L. J., and Faraone, S. V. (2008). Discordance between psychometric testing and questionnaire-based definitions of executive function deficits in individuals with ADHD. *Journal of Attention Disorders*, 12(1), 92–102. https://doi.org/10.1177/1087054707305111
- Blair, C., and Razza, R. P. (2007). Relating effortful control, executive function, and false belief understanding to emerging math and literacy ability in kindergarten. *Child Development*, 78(2), 647–663. https://doi.org/10.1111/J.1467-8624.2007.01019.X
- Blokland, G. A. M., Mesholam-Gately, R. I., Toulopoulou, T., Del Re, E. C., Lam, M., DeLisi, L. E., Donohoe, G., Walters, J. T. R., GENUS Consortium, Seidman, L. J., and Petryshen, T. L. (2017). Heritability of Neuropsychological Measures in Schizophrenia and Nonpsychiatric Populations: A Systematic Review and Meta-analysis. *Schizophrenia Bulletin*, 43(4), 788–800. https://doi.org/10.1093/schbul/sbw146
- Bollen, K. A. (2002). Latent variables in psychology and the social sciences. *Annual Review of Psychology*, *53*, 605–634. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.psych.53.100901.135239
- Boot, W. R., Kramer, A. F., Simons, D. J., Fabiani, M., and Gratton, G. (2008). The effects of video game playing on attention, memory, and executive control. *Acta Psychologica*, *129*(3), 387–398. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.actpsy.2008.09.005
- Brocki, K. C., Eninger, L., Thorell, L. B., and Bohlin, G. (2010). Interrelations between executive function and symptoms of hyperactivity/impulsivity and inattention in preschoolers: a two year longitudinal study. *Journal of Abnormal Child Psychology*, *38*(2), 163–171. https://doi.org/10.1007/S10802-009-9354-9
- Brydges, C. R., Fox, A. M., Reid, C. L., and Anderson, M. (2014). Predictive validity of the N2 and P3 ERP components to executive functioning in children: a latent-variable analysis.
 Frontiers in Human Neuroscience, 8(1 FEB), 80.
 https://doi.org/10.3389/fnhum.2014.00080
- Buss, A. T., and Spencer, J. P. (2014). The emergent executive: a dynamic field theory of the development of executive function. *Monographs of the Society for Research in Child Development*, *79*(2). https://doi.org/10.1002/MONO.12096
- Buti, J., Glenny, A.-M., Worthington, H. V, Nieri, M., and Baccini, M. (2011). Network metaanalysis of randomised controlled trials: direct and indirect treatment comparisons. *European Journal of Oral Implantology*, 4(1), 55–62.

- Caron, C., and Rutter, M. (1991). Comorbidity in child psychopathology: concepts, issues and research strategies. *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry, and Allied Disciplines,* 32(7), 1063–1080. https://doi.org/10.1111/J.1469-7610.1991.TB00350.X
- Castellanos, F. X., and Tannock, R. (2002). Neuroscience of attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder: The search for endophenotypes. *Nature Reviews Neuroscience*, *3*(8), 617–628. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrn896
- Castelo, R. J., Meuwissen, A. S., Distefano, R., McClelland, M. M., Galinsky, E., Zelazo, P. D., and Carlson, S. M. (2022). Parent Provision of Choice Is a Key Component of Autonomy Support in Predicting Child Executive Function Skills. *Frontiers in Psychology*, *12*. https://doi.org/10.3389/FPSYG.2021.773492
- Castro, E. M., Lotfipour, S., and Leslie, F. M. (2023). Nicotine on the developing brain. *Pharmacological Research*, 190. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.PHRS.2023.106716
- Catalá-López, F., Hutton, B., Núñez-Beltrán, A., Page, M. J., Ridao, M., Saint-Gerons, D. M., Catalá, M. A., Tabarés-Seisdedos, R., and Moher, D. (2017). The pharmacological and nonpharmacological treatment of attention deficit hyperactivity disorder in children and adolescents: A systematic review with network meta-analyses of randomised trials. *PloS One*, *12*(7). https://doi.org/10.1371/JOURNAL.PONE.0180355
- Cerrillo-Urbina, A. J., García-Hermoso, A., Sánchez-López, M., Pardo-Guijarro, M. J., Santos Gómez, J. L., and Martínez-Vizcaíno, V. (2015). The effects of physical exercise in children with attention deficit hyperactivity disorder: a systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized control trials. *Child: Care, Health and Development, 41*(6), 779–788. https://doi.org/10.1111/CCH.12255
- Chee, P., Logan, G., Schachar, R., Lindsay, P., and Wachsmuth, R. (1989). Effects of event rate and display time on sustained attention in hyperactive, normal, and control children. *Journal of Abnormal Child Psychology*, *17*(4). https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00915033
- Chevrier, A., and Schachar, R. J. (2010). Error detection in the Stop-Signal Task . *NeuroImage*, 53(2). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2010.06.056
- Chevrier, A., and Schachar, R. J. (2020). BOLD differences normally attributed to inhibitory control predict symptoms, not task-directed inhibitory control in ADHD. *Journal of Neurodevelopmental Disorders*. https://doi.org/10.1186/s11689-020-09311-8
- Clatworthy, P. L., Lewis, S. J. G., Brichard, L., Hong, Y. T., Izquierdo, D., Clark, L., Cools, R., Aigbirhio, F. I., Baron, J. C., Fryer, T. D., and Robbins, T. W. (2009). Dopamine release in dissociable striatal subregions predicts the different effects of oral methylphenidate on reversal learning and spatial working memory. *Journal of Neuroscience*, *29*(15), 4690– 4696. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.3266-08.2009
- Coghill, D. (2021). Editorial: Comprehensive Child and Adolescent Mental Health Assessment Should Include Objective Assessments of Neurocognition. *Journal of the American*

Academy of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry, 60(12), 1461–1463. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaac.2021.01.003

- Coghill, D. R., Rhodes, S. M., and Matthews, K. (2007). The neuropsychological effects of chronic methylphenidate on drug-naive boys with attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder. *Biological Psychiatry*, *62*(9), 954–962. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biopsych.2006.12.030
- Conners, K. K., Epstein, J. N., Angold, A., and Klaric, J. (2003). Continuous performance test performance in a normative epidemiological sample. *Journal of Abnormal Child Psychology*, *31*(5), 555–562. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1025457300409
- Corbett, B. A., Constantine, L. J., Hendren, R., Rocke, D., and Ozonoff, S. (2009). Examining executive functioning in children with autism spectrum disorder, attention deficit hyperactivity disorder and typical development. *Psychiatry Research*, *166*(2–3), 210–222. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psychres.2008.02.005
- Cortese, S., Adamo, N., Del Giovane, C., Mohr-Jensen, C., Hayes, A. J., Carucci, S., Atkinson, L. Z., Tessari, L., Banaschewski, T., Coghill, D., Hollis, C., Simonoff, E., Zuddas, A., Barbui, C., Purgato, M., Steinhausen, H.-C., Shokraneh, F., Xia, J., and Cipriani, A. (2018). Comparative efficacy and tolerability of medications for attention-deficit hyperactivity disorder in children, adolescents, and adults: a systematic review and network meta-analysis. *The Lancet. Psychiatry*, 5(9), 727–738. https://doi.org/10.1016/S2215-0366(18)30269-4
- Cowan, N. (2022). Working memory development: A 50-year assessment of research and underlying theories. *Cognition*, 224. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cognition.2022.105075
- Craig, F., Lamanna, A. L., Margari, F., Matera, E., Simone, M., and Margari, L. (2015). Overlap Between Autism Spectrum Disorders and Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder: Searching for Distinctive/Common Clinical Features. *Autism Research : Official Journal of the International Society for Autism Research*, 8(3), 328–337. https://doi.org/10.1002/AUR.1449
- Crosbie, J., Arnold, P., Paterson, A., Swanson, J., Dupuis, A., Li, X., Shan, J., Goodale, T., Tam, C., Strug, L. J., and Schachar, R. J. (2013). Response inhibition and ADHD traits: Correlates and heritability in a community sample. *Journal of Abnormal Child Psychology*, 41(3), 497–507. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10802-012-9693-9
- Crosbie, J., and Schachar, R. (2001). Deficient inhibition as a marker for familial ADHD. *American Journal of Psychiatry*, *158*(11). https://doi.org/10.1176/appi.ajp.158.11.1884
- De La Vega, F. M., and Bustamante, C. D. (2018). Polygenic risk scores: a biased prediction? *Genome Medicine*, 10(1). https://doi.org/10.1186/S13073-018-0610-X
- Deer, L. B. K., Hastings, P. D., and Hostinar, C. E. (2020). The Role of Childhood Executive Function in Explaining Income Disparities in Long-Term Academic Achievement. *Child Development*, *91*(5), e1046–e1063. https://doi.org/10.1111/cdev.13383
- Dekkers, T. J., de Water, E., and Scheres, A. (2022). Impulsive and risky decision-making in adolescents with attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder (ADHD): The need for a

developmental perspective. *Current Opinion in Psychology, 44,* 330–336. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.copsyc.2021.11.002

- Demetriou, E. A., Lampit, A., Quintana, D. S., Naismith, S. L., Song, Y. J. C., Pye, J. E., Hickie, I., and Guastella, A. J. (2018). Autism spectrum disorders: A meta-analysis of executive function. *Molecular Psychiatry*, 23(5), 1198–1204. https://doi.org/10.1038/mp.2017.75
- Demontis, D., Walters, G. B., Athanasiadis, G., Walters, R., Therrien, K., Nielsen, T. T., Farajzadeh, L., Voloudakis, G., Bendl, J., Zeng, B., Zhang, W., Grove, J., Als, T. D., Duan, J., Satterstrom, F. K., Bybjerg-Grauholm, J., Bækved-Hansen, M., Gudmundsson, O. O., Magnusson, S. H., ... Børglum, A. D. (2023). Genome-wide analyses of ADHD identify 27 risk loci, refine the genetic architecture and implicate several cognitive domains. *Nature Genetics*, 55(2), 198–208. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41588-022-01285-8
- Dennis, M., Francis, D. J., Cirino, P. T., Schachar, R., Barnes, M. A., and Fletcher, J. M.-J. M. (2009). Why IQ is not a covariate in cognitive studies of neurodevelopmental disorders. *Journal of the International Neuropsychological Society*, 15(3). https://doi.org/10.1017/S1355617709090481
- Devine, R. T., Bignardi, G., and Hughes, C. (2016). Executive Function Mediates the Relations between Parental Behaviors and Children's Early Academic Ability. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 7(DEC), 1902. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2016.01902
- Devine, R. T., and Hughes, C. (2014). Relations between false belief understanding and executive function in early childhood: a meta-analysis. *Child Development*, *85*(5), 1777–1794. https://doi.org/10.1111/CDEV.12237
- Dhillon, S., Videla-Nash, G., Foussias, G., Segal, Z. V., and Zakzanis, K. K. (2020). On the nature of objective and perceived cognitive impairments in depressive symptoms and real-world functioning in young adults. *Psychiatry Research*, 287. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.PSYCHRES.2020.112932
- Diamond, A. (2013). Executive Functions. *Annual Reviews Psychology*, *64*, 135–168. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-psych-113011-143750
- Diamond, A. (2020). Executive functions. *Handbook of Clinical Neurology*, *173*, 225–240. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-444-64150-2.00020-4
- Douglas, V. (1972). Stop, look and listen: The problem of sustained attention and impulse control in hyperactive and normal children. *Can J Behav Science*, 4(4), 259–282.
- Dumas-Mallet, E., Button, K., Boraud, T., Munafo, M., and Gonon, F. (2016). Replication Validity of Initial Association Studies: A Comparison between Psychiatry, Neurology and Four Somatic Diseases. *PloS One*, *11*(6). https://doi.org/10.1371/JOURNAL.PONE.0158064
- Epstein, J. N., Erkanli, A., Conners, C. K., Klaric, J., Costello, J. E., and Angold, A. (2003). Relations between continuous performance test performance measures and ADHD behaviors. *Journal of Abnormal Child Psychology*, *31*(5), 543–554. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1025405216339

- Epstein, J. N., Karalunas, S. L., Tamm, L., Dudley, J. A., Lynch, J. D., Altaye, M., Simon, J. O., Maloney, T. C., and Atluri, G. (2022). Examining reaction time variability on the Stop-Signal Task in the ABCD study. *Journal of the International Neuropsychological Society : JINS*, 1– 11. https://doi.org/10.1017/S1355617722000431
- Fallon, S. J., van der Schaaf, M. E., Ter Huurne, N., and Cools, R. (2017). The Neurocognitive Cost of Enhancing Cognition with Methylphenidate: Improved Distractor Resistance but Impaired Updating. *Journal of Cognitive Neuroscience*, 29(4), 652–663. https://doi.org/10.1162/jocn_a_01065
- Faraone, S. V., Banaschewski, T., Coghill, D., Zheng, Y., Biederman, J., Bellgrove, M. A., Newcorn, J. H., Gignac, M., Al Saud, N. M., Manor, I., Rohde, L. A., Yang, L., Cortese, S., Almagor, D., Stein, M. A., Albatti, T. H., Aljoudi, H. F., Alqahtani, M. M. J., Asherson, P., ... Wang, Y. (2021). The World Federation of ADHD International Consensus Statement: 208 Evidence-based conclusions about the disorder. In *Neuroscience and Biobehavioral Reviews* (Vol. 128, pp. 789–818). Elsevier Ltd. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neubiorev.2021.01.022
- Faraone, S. V, and Larsson, H. (2019). Genetics of attention deficit hyperactivity disorder. *Molecular Psychiatry*, 24(4), 562–575. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41380-018-0070-0
- Friedman, N. P., and Miyake, A. (2017). Unity and diversity of executive functions: Individual differences as a window on cognitive structure. *Cortex; a Journal Devoted to the Study of the Nervous System and Behavior, 86,* 186–204. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cortex.2016.04.023
- Friedman, N. P., Miyake, A., Robinson, J. A. L., and Hewitt, J. K. (2011). Developmental trajectories in toddlers' self-restraint predict individual differences in executive functions 14 years later: a behavioral genetic analysis. *Developmental Psychology*, 47(5), 1410–1430. https://doi.org/10.1037/A0023750
- Friedman, N. P., and Robbins, T. W. (2022). The role of prefrontal cortex in cognitive control and executive function. *Neuropsychopharmacology*, 47(1), 72–89. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41386-021-01132-0
- Galván, A., and Rahdar, A. (2013). The neurobiological effects of stress on adolescent decision making. *Neuroscience*, 249, 223–231. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroscience.2012.09.074
- Garon, N., Bryson, S. E., and Smith, I. M. (2008). Executive Function in Preschoolers: A Review Using an Integrative Framework. *Psychological Bulletin*, *134*(1), 31–60. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/0033-2909.134.1.31</u>
- Gershon, R. C., Cella, D., Fox, N. A., Havlik, R. J., Hendrie, H. C., and Wagster, M. V. (2010). Assessment of neurological and behavioural function: The NIH toolbox. The Lancet. Neurology, 9(2), 138–139.
- Gioia, G. A., Isquith, P. K., Kenworthy, L., and Barton, R. M. (2002). Profiles of everyday executive function in acquired and developmental disorders. *Child Neuropsychology*, 8(2), 121–137. https://doi.org/10.1076/chin.8.2.121.8727

- Golubchik, P., Shalev, L., Tsamir, D., Manor, I., and Weizman, A. (2019). High pretreatment cognitive impulsivity predicts response of oppositional symptoms to methylphenidate in patients with attention-deficit hyperactivity disorder/oppositional defiant disorder. *International Clinical Psychopharmacology*, *34*(3), 138–142. https://doi.org/10.1097/YIC.0000000000252
- Green, A., Baroud, E., DiSalvo, M., Faraone, S. V., and Biederman, J. (2022). Examining the impact of ADHD polygenic risk scores on ADHD and associated outcomes: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Journal of Psychiatric Research*, 155, 49–67. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JPSYCHIRES.2022.07.032
- Green, C. S., and Bavelier, D. (2003). Action video game modifies visual selective attention. *Nature*, 423(6939), 534–537. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature01647
- Groom, M. J., Young, Z., Hall, C. L., Gillott, A., and Hollis, C. (2016). The incremental validity of a computerised assessment added to clinical rating scales to differentiate adult ADHD from autism spectrum disorder. *Psychiatry Research*, *243*, 168–173. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.PSYCHRES.2016.06.042
- Groves, N. B., Wells, E. L., Soto, E. F., Marsh, C. L., Jaisle, E. M., Harvey, T. K., and Kofler, M. J. (2022). Executive Functioning and Emotion Regulation in Children with and without ADHD. *Research on Child and Adolescent Psychopathology*, *50*(6), 721–735. https://doi.org/10.1007/S10802-021-00883-0
- Grzadzinski, R., Dick, C., Lord, C., and Bishop, S. (2016). Parent-reported and clinician-observed autism spectrum disorder (ASD) symptoms in children with attention deficit/hyperactivity disorder (ADHD): Implications for practice under DSM-5. *Molecular Autism*, 7(1). https://doi.org/10.1186/s13229-016-0072-1
- Guimaraes, J. P. O. F. T., Bralten, J., Greven, C. U., Franke, B., Sprooten, E., and Beckmann, C. F. (2020). Discovering the shared biology of cognitive traits determined by genetic overlap. *NeuroImage*, 208, 116409. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2019.116409
- Gulberti, A., Arndt, P. A., and Colonius, H. (2014). Stopping eyes and hands: evidence for nonindependence of stop and go processes and for a separation of central and peripheral inhibition. *Frontiers in Human Neuroscience*, 8(1 FEB). https://doi.org/10.3389/FNHUM.2014.00061
- Gustavson, D. E., Panizzon, M. S., Franz, C. E., Reynolds, C. A., Corley, R. P., Hewitt, J. K., Lyons, M. J., Kremen, W. S., and Friedman, N. P. (2019). Integrating verbal fluency with executive functions: Evidence from twin studies in adolescence and middle age. *Journal of Experimental Psychology. General*, 148(12). https://doi.org/10.1037/XGE0000589
- Gustavson, D. E., Reynolds, C. A., Corley, R. P., Wadsworth, S. J., Hewitt, J. K., and Friedman, N. P. (2022). Genetic associations between executive functions and intelligence: A combined twin and adoption study. *Journal of Experimental Psychology. General*, 151(8), 1745–1761. https://doi.org/10.1037/xge0001168

- Hamadache, S., Hoberg, K., Zaplana Labarga, S., and Günther, T. (2021). Is the QbMini a Valid Instrument for ADHD Assessment? *Journal of Attention Disorders*, *25*(10), 1384–1394. https://doi.org/10.1177/1087054720903361
- Hannah, R., and Aron, A. R. (2021). Towards real-world generalizability of a circuit for actionstopping. In *Nature Reviews Neuroscience* (Vol. 22, Issue 9, pp. 538–552). Nature Research. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41583-021-00485-1
- Happé, F., Booth, R., Charlton, R., and Hughes, C. (2006). Executive function deficits in autism spectrum disorders and attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder: examining profiles across domains and ages. *Brain and Cognition*, *61*(1), 25–39. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.BANDC.2006.03.004
- Horowitz-Kraus, T. (2015). Differential effect of cognitive training on executive functions and reading abilities in children with ADHD and in children with ADHD comorbid with reading difficulties. *Journal of Attention Disorders*, *19*(6), 515–526. https://doi.org/10.1177/1087054713502079
- Howard, R. W. (1993). On what intelligence is. *British Journal of Psychology (London, England : 1953)*, 84 (*Pt 1*)(1), 27–37. https://doi.org/10.1111/J.2044-8295.1993.TB02460.X
- Hvoslef-Eide, M., Mar, A. C., Nilsson, S. R. O., Alsiö, J., Heath, C. J., Saksida, L. M., Robbins, T. W., and Bussey, T. J. (2015). The NEWMEDS rodent touchscreen test battery for cognition relevant to schizophrenia. *Psychopharmacology*, 232(21–22), 3853–3872. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00213-015-4007-x
- Idema, I. M. E., Payne, J. M., and Coghill, D. (2021). Effects of methylphenidate on cognitive functions in boys with attention deficit hyperactivity disorder: Does baseline performance matter? *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, 89(7), 615–625. https://doi.org/10.1037/ccp0000662
- Irwin, L. N., Kofler, M. J., Soto, E. F., and Groves, N. B. (2019). Do children with attentiondeficit/hyperactivity disorder (ADHD) have set shifting deficits? *Neuropsychology*, 33(4), 470–481. https://doi.org/10.1037/NEU0000546
- Irwin, L. N., Soto, E. F., Chan, E. S. M., Miller, C. E., Carrington-Forde, S., Groves, N. B., and Kofler, M. J. (2021). Activities of daily living and working memory in pediatric attentiondeficit/hyperactivity disorder (ADHD). *Child Neuropsychology : A Journal on Normal and Abnormal Development in Childhood and Adolescence*, 27(4), 468–490. https://doi.org/10.1080/09297049.2020.1866521
- Jackson, J. N. S., and MacKillop, J. (2016). Attention-Deficit/Hyperactivity Disorder and Monetary Delay Discounting: A Meta-Analysis of Case-Control Studies. *Biological Psychiatry. Cognitive Neuroscience and Neuroimaging*, 1(4), 316–325. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bpsc.2016.01.007
- Jaisle, E. M., Groves, N. B., Black, K. E., and Kofler, M. J. (2023). Linking ADHD and ASD Symptomatology with Social Impairment: The Role of Emotion Dysregulation. *Research on*

Child and Adolescent Psychopathology, *51*(1), 3–16. https://doi.org/10.1007/S10802-022-00982-6

- Joshi, G., Faraone, S. V., Wozniak, J., Tarko, L., Fried, R., Galdo, M., Furtak, S. L., and Biederman, J. (2017). Symptom Profile of ADHD in Youth With High-Functioning Autism Spectrum Disorder: A Comparative Study in Psychiatrically Referred Populations. *Journal of Attention Disorders*, 21(10), 846–855. https://doi.org/10.1177/1087054714543368
- Jurado, M. B., and Rosselli, M. (2007). The elusive nature of executive functions: a review of our current understanding. *Neuropsychology Review*, *17*(3), 213–233. https://doi.org/10.1007/S11065-007-9040-Z
- Kahn, E., and Cohen, L. H. (1934). Organic driveness: A brain-stem syndrome and an experience with case reports. *New England Journal of Medicine*, *210*, 748–756.
- Kapur, A. (2020a). Is Methylphenidate Beneficial and Safe in Pharmacological Cognitive Enhancement? *CNS Drugs*, *34*(10), 1045–1062. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40263-020-00758-w
- Karalunas, S. L., Hawkey, E., Gustafsson, H., Miller, M., Langhorst, M., Cordova, M., Fair, D., and Nigg, J. T. (2018). Overlapping and Distinct Cognitive Impairments in Attention-Deficit/Hyperactivity and Autism Spectrum Disorder without Intellectual Disability. *Journal* of Abnormal Child Psychology, 46(8), 1705–1716. https://doi.org/10.1007/S10802-017-0394-2
- Karr, J. E., Areshenkoff, C. N., Rast, P., Hofer, S. M., Iverson, G. L., and Garcia-Barrera, M. A. (2018). The unity and diversity of executive functions: A systematic review and re-analysis of latent variable studies. *Psychological Bulletin*, 144(11), 1147–1185. https://doi.org/10.1037/BUL0000160
- Karr, J. E., Rodriguez, J. E., Rast, P., Goh, P. K., and Martel, M. M. (2023). A Network Analysis of Executive Functions in Children and Adolescents With and Without Attention-Deficit/Hyperactivity Disorder. *Child Psychiatry and Human Development*. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10578-023-01518-9
- Kenworthy, L., Verbalis, A., Bascom, J., daVanport, S., Strang, J. F., Pugliese, C., Freeman, A., Jeppsen, C., Armour, A. C., Jost, G., Hardy, K., and Wallace, G. L. (2022). Adding the missing voice: How self-report of autistic youth self-report on an executive functioning rating scale compares to parent report and that of youth with attention deficit hyperactivity disorder or neurotypical development. *Autism : The International Journal of Research and Practice*, 26(2), 422–433. https://doi.org/10.1177/13623613211029117
- Knobloch, H., and Pasamanick, B. (1959). Syndrome of minimal cerebral damage in infancy. Journal of the American Medical Association, 170(12), 1384–1387. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.1959.03010120020006
- Kofler, M. J., Rapport, M. D., Sarver, D. E., Raiker, J. S., Orban, S. A., Friedman, L. M., and Kolomeyer, E. G. (2013). Reaction time variability in ADHD: a meta-analytic review of 319

studies. *Clinical Psychology Review*, *33*(6), 795–811. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.CPR.2013.06.001

- Korenblum, C. B., Chen, S. X., Manassis, K., and Schachar, R. J. (2007). Performance monitoring and response inhibition in anxiety disorders with and without comorbid ADHD. *Depression and Anxiety*, *24*(4), 227–232. https://doi.org/10.1002/DA.20237
- Kuijper, S. J. M., Hartman, C. A., Bogaerds-Hazenberg, S. T. M., and Hendriks, P. (2017). Narrative production in children with autism spectrum disorder (ASD) and children with attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder (ADHD): Similarities and differences. *Journal of Abnormal Psychology*, 126(1), 63–75. https://doi.org/10.1037/abn0000231
- Kuijper, S. J. M., Hartman, C. A., and Hendriks, P. (2015). Who is he? Children with ASD and ADHD take the listener into account in their production of ambiguous pronouns. *PLoS ONE*, 10(7). <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0132408</u>
- Kushki A, Anagnostou E, Hammill C, Duez P, Brian J, Iaboni A, Schachar R, Crosbie J, Arnold P, Lerch JP. (2019). Examining overlap and homogeneity in ASD, ADHD, and OCD: a datadriven, diagnosis-agnostic approach. Transl Psychiatry. Nov 26;9(1):318. doi: 10.1038/s41398-019-0631-2.
- Lambez, B., Harwood-Gross, A., Golumbic, E. Z., and Rassovsky, Y. (2020). Non-pharmacological interventions for cognitive difficulties in ADHD: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Journal of Psychiatric Research*, 120, 40–55. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpsychires.2019.10.007
- Leblanc, N., Chen, S., Swank, P. R., Ewing-Cobbs, L., Barnes, M., Dennis, M., Max, J., Levin, H., and Schachar, R. (2005). Response inhibition after traumatic brain injury (TBI) in children: impairment and recovery. *Developmental Neuropsychology*, 28(3), 829–848. https://doi.org/10.1207/s15326942dn2803_5
- Lee, P. L. (2014). Cognitive function in midlife and beyond: physical and cognitive activity related to episodic memory and executive functions. *International Journal of Aging and Human Development*, *79*(4), 263–278. https://doi.org/10.1177/0091415015574190
- Lehto, J. E., and Elorinne, E. (2003). Gambling as an executive function task. *Applied Neuropsychology*, *10*(4), 234–238. https://doi.org/10.1207/S15324826AN1004_5
- Lionel, A. C., Crosbie, J., Barbosa, N., Goodale, T., Thiruvahindrapuram, B., Rickaby, J.,
 Gazzellone, M., Carson, A. R., Howe, J. L., Wang, Z., Wei, J., Stewart, A. F. R., Roberts, R.,
 McPherson, R., Fiebig, A., Franke, A., Schreiber, S., Zwaigenbaum, L., Fernandez, B. A., ...
 Scherere, S. W. (2011). Rare copy number variation discovery and cross-disorder
 comparisons identify risk genes for ADHD. *Science Translational Medicine*, *3*(95).
 https://doi.org/10.1126/scitranslmed.3002464
- Lipszyc, J., and Schachar, R. (2010). Inhibitory control and psychopathology: A meta-analysis of studies using the Stop-Signal Task . *Journal of the International Neuropsychological Society*, *16*(6), 1064–1076. https://doi.org/10.1017/S1355617710000895

- Liu, Y. P., Wilkinson, L. S., and Robbins, T. W. (2017). 'Waiting impulsivity' in isolation-reared and socially-reared rats: effects of amphetamine. *Psychopharmacology*, 234(9–10), 1587– 1601. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00213-017-4579-8
- Logan, G., and Cowan, W. B. (1984). On the ability to inhibit thought and action: A theory of an act of control. *Psychological Review*, *91*(3), 295–327. https://doi.org/10.1037/0033-295X.91.3.295
- Lukito, W., Wibowo, L., and Wahlqvist, M. L. (2017). The clinical nutrition research agenda in Indonesia and beyond: Ecological strategy for food in health care delivery. *Asia Pacific Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, *26*, S1–S8. https://doi.org/10.6133/apjcn.062017.s12
- Luteijn, E. F., Serra, M., Jackson, S., Steenhuis, M. P., Althaus, M., Volkmar, F., and Minderaa, R. (2000). How unspecified are disorders of children with a pervasive developmental disorder not otherwise specified? A study of social problems in children with PDD-NOS and ADHD. *European Child and Adolescent Psychiatry*, 9(3), 168–179. https://doi.org/10.1007/S007870070040
- Lyall, K., Schweitzer, J. B., Schmidt, R. J., Hertz-Picciotto, I., and Solomon, M. (2017). Inattention and hyperactivity in association with autism spectrum disorders in the CHARGE study. *Research in Autism Spectrum Disorders*, 35, 1–12. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.RASD.2016.11.011
- Macare, C., Meindl, T., Nenadic, I., Rujescu, D., and Ettinger, U. (2014). Preliminary findings on the heritability of the neural correlates of response inhibition. *Biological Psychology*, *103*(1), 19–23. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.BIOPSYCHO.2014.07.017
- Maier, R., Moser, G., Chen, G.-B., Ripke, S., Coryell, W., Potash, J. B., Scheftner, W. A., Shi, J., Weissman, M. M., Hultman, C. M., Landén, M., Levinson, D. F., Kendler, K. S., Smoller, J. W., Wray, N. R., Lee, S. H., Absher, D., Agartz, I., Akil, H., ... Zöllner, S. (2015). Joint analysis of psychiatric disorders increases accuracy of risk prediction for schizophrenia, bipolar disorder, and major depressive disorder. *American Journal of Human Genetics*, 96(2). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ajhg.2014.12.006
- Manfro, A. G., Pine, D. S., Polanczyk, G. V., Santoro, M., Smoller, J. W., Koenen, K., Mari, J., Pan, P. M., Zugman, A., Schäfer, J. L., Belangero, S., Gosmann, N. P., Simioni, A. R., Hoexter, M. Q., Miguel, E. C., Gadelha, A., Rohde, L. A., and Salum, G. A. (2021). Testing the Stability and Validity of an Executive Dysfunction Classification Using Task-Based Assessment in Children and Adolescents. *Journal of the American Academy of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry*, *60*(12), 1501–1512. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JAAC.2020.11.016
- Mar, K., Townes, P., Pechlivanoglou, P., Arnold, P., and Schachar, R. (2022). Obsessive compulsive disorder and response inhibition: Meta-analysis of the Stop-Signal Task . *Journal of Psychopathology and Clinical Science*, 131(2). https://doi.org/10.1037/ABN0000732
- Marklund, P., Fransson, P., Cabeza, R., Larsson, A., Ingvar, M., and Nyberg, L. (2007). Unity and diversity of tonic and phasic executive control components in episodic and working

memory. *NeuroImage*, *36*(4), 1361–1373. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2007.03.058

- Marko, M., and Riečanský, I. (2018). Sympathetic arousal, but not disturbed executive functioning, mediates the impairment of cognitive flexibility under stress. *Cognition*, 174, 94–102. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.COGNITION.2018.02.004
- Martín-Signes, M., Paz-Alonso, P. M., and Chica, A. B. (2019). Connectivity of Frontoparietal Regions Reveals Executive Attention and Consciousness Interactions. *Cerebral Cortex (New York, N.Y. : 1991), 29*(11), 4539–4550. https://doi.org/10.1093/CERCOR/BHY332
- Massera, A., Bonaiuto, J. J., Gautier-Martins, M., Costa, S., Rayson, H., and Ferrari, P. F. (2023).
 Longitudinal effects of early psychosocial deprivation on macaque executive function:
 Evidence from computational modelling. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, 290(1996), 20221993. https://doi.org/10.1098/rspb.2022.1993
- Mcauley, T., Chen, S., Goos, L., Schachar, R., and Crosbie, J. (2010). Is the behavior rating inventory of executive function more strongly associated with measures of impairment or executive function? *Journal of the International Neuropsychological Society*, *16*(3). https://doi.org/10.1017/S1355617710000093
- Mcauley, T., Crosbie, J., Charach, A., and Schachar, R. (2013). *The persistence of cognitive deficits in remitted and unremitted ADHD: a case for the state-independence of response inhibition*. https://doi.org/10.1111/jcpp.12160
- McDougal, E., Gracie, H., Oldridge, J., Stewart, T. M., Booth, J. N., and Rhodes, S. M. (2022).
 Relationships between cognition and literacy in children with attentiondeficit/hyperactivity disorder: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *The British Journal of Developmental Psychology*, 40(1), 130–150. https://doi.org/10.1111/BJDP.12395
- Mckenzie, A., Meshkat, S., Lui, L. M. W., Ho, R., Di Vincenzo, J. D., Ceban, F., Cao, B., and McIntyre, R. S. (2022). The effects of psychostimulants on cognitive functions in individuals with attention-deficit hyperactivity disorder: A systematic review. *Journal of Psychiatric Research*, 149, 252–259. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpsychires.2022.03.018
- McMahon, F. J., and Insel, T. R. (2012). Pharmacogenomics and Personalized Medicine in Neuropsychiatry. *Neuron*, 74(5), 773–776. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2012.05.004
- Mesulam, M. M. (1998). From sensation to cognition. *Brain : A Journal of Neurology, 121 (Pt 6,* 1013–1052.
- Miles, S., Howlett, C. A., Berryman, C., Nedeljkovic, M., Moseley, G. L., and Phillipou, A. (2021). Considerations for using the Wisconsin Card Sorting Test to assess cognitive flexibility. *Behavior Research Methods*, 53(5), 2083–2091. https://doi.org/10.3758/s13428-021-01551-3
- Miyake, A., Friedman, N. P., Emerson, M. J., Witzki, A. H., Howerter, A., and Wager, T. D. (2000). The Unity and Diversity of Executive Functions and Their Contributions to Complex

"Frontal Lobe" Tasks: A Latent Variable Analysis. *Cognitive Psychology*, *41*(1), 49–100. https://doi.org/10.1006/cogp.1999.0734

- Molina, B. S., Pelham, W. E., Blumenthal, J., and Galiszewski, E. (1998). Agreement among teachers' behavior ratings of adolescents with a childhood history of attention deficit hyperactivity disorder. *Journal of Clinical Child Psychology*, 27(3), 330–339. https://doi.org/10.1207/s15374424jccp2703_9
- Molitor, S. J., and Langberg, J. M. (2017). Using task performance to inform treatment planning for youth with ADHD: A systematic review. *Clinical Psychology Review*, *58*, 157–173. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cpr.2017.10.007
- Moses, M., Tiego, J., Demontis, D., Bragi Walters, G., Stefansson, H., Stefansson, K., Børglum, A. D., Arnatkeviciute, A., and Bellgrove, M. A. (2022). Working memory and reaction time variability mediate the relationship between polygenic risk and ADHD traits in a general population sample. *Molecular Psychiatry*, 27(12), 5028–5037. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41380-022-01775-5
- Müller, U., Kerns, K. A., and Konkin, K. (2012). Test-retest reliability and practice effects of executive function tasks in preschool children. *The Clinical Neuropsychologist*, *26*(2), 271–287. https://doi.org/10.1080/13854046.2011.645558
- Mutluer, T., Aslan Genç, H., Özcan Morey, A., Yapici Eser, H., Ertinmaz, B., Can, M., and Munir, K. (2022). Population-Based Psychiatric Comorbidity in Children and Adolescents With Autism Spectrum Disorder: A Meta-Analysis. *Frontiers in Psychiatry*, 13. https://doi.org/10.3389/FPSYT.2022.856208
- Nigg, J., Gustafsson, H., Karalunas, S., Mooney, M., Ryabinin, P., Bhatt, P., Faraone, S. V., Fair, D., and Wilmot, B. (2018). 30.2 Common Risk Variants in Molecular Genetic Data and Cognitive and Emotion Endophenotypes in ADHD: The Power of Latent Variable Models. *Journal of the American Academy of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaac.2018.07.789
- Nigg, J. T., Gustafsson, H. C., Karalunas, S. L., Ryabinin, P., McWeeney, S. K., Faraone, S. V, Mooney, M. A., Fair, D. A., and Wilmot, B. (2018). Working Memory and Vigilance as Multivariate Endophenotypes Related to Common Genetic Risk for Attention-Deficit/Hyperactivity Disorder. *Journal of the American Academy of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry*, *57*(3), 175–182. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaac.2017.12.013
- Nijmeijer, J. S., Hoekstra, P. J., Minderaa, R. B., Buitelaar, J. K., Altink, M. E., Buschgens, C. J. M., Fliers, E. A., Rommelse, N. N. J., Sergeant, J. A., and Hartman, C. A. (2009). PDD symptoms in ADHD, an independent familial trait? *Journal of Abnormal Child Psychology*, *37*(3), 443– 453. https://doi.org/10.1007/S10802-008-9282-0
- Nikolas, M. A., Marshall, P., and Hoelzle, J. B. (2019). The role of neurocognitive tests in the assessment of adult attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder. *Psychological Assessment*, *31*(5), 685–698. https://doi.org/10.1037/PAS0000688

- Noppeney, U., Friston, K. J., and Price, C. J. (2004). Degenerate neuronal systems sustaining cognitive functions. *Journal of Anatomy*, *205*(6), 433–442. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.0021-8782.2004.00343.x
- Norman, D., and Shallice, T. (1981). Attention to Action: Willed and Automatic Control of Behaviour. In M. Lansman and E. Hunt (Eds.), *Proceedings of the Lake Wilderness Attention Conference*.
- Ornstein, T. J., Max, J. E., Schachar, R., Dennis, M., Barnes, M., Ewing-Cobbs, L., and Levin, H. S. (2013). Response inhibition in children with and without ADHD after traumatic brain injury. *Journal of Neuropsychology*, 7(1), 1–11. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1748-6653.2012.02027.x
- Parsey, C. M., Bagger, J. E., Trittschuh, E. H., and Hanson, A. J. (2021). Utility of the iPad NIH Toolbox Cognition Battery in a clinical trial of older adults. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society*, 69(12), 3519–3528. https://doi.org/10.1111/jgs.17382
- Patros, C. H. G., Alderson, R. M., Kasper, L. J., Tarle, S. J., Lea, S. E., and Hudec, K. L. (2016). Choice-impulsivity in children and adolescents with attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder (ADHD): A meta-analytic review. *Clinical Psychology Review*, 43, 162–174. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cpr.2015.11.001
- Patros, C. H. G., Tarle, S. J., Alderson, R. M., Lea, S. E., and Arrington, E. F. (2019). Planning deficits in children with attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder (ADHD): A meta-analytic review of tower task performance. *Neuropsychology*, 33(3), 425–444. https://doi.org/10.1037/NEU0000531
- Pehlivanidis, A., Papanikolaou, K., Korobili, K., Kalantzi, E., Mantas, V., Pappa, D., and Papageorgiou, C. (2020). Trait-Based Dimensions Discriminating Adults with Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder (ADHD), Autism Spectrum Disorder (ASD) and, Co-occurring ADHD/ASD. *Brain Sciences*, 11(1), 1–15. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/BRAINSCI11010018</u>
- Penolazzi, B., Stramaccia, D.F., Braga, M., Mondini, S. and Galfano G. (2014). Human memory retrieval and inhibitory control in the brain: beyond correlational evidence. *J Neurosci*. May 7;34(19):6606-10. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.0349-14.2014.
- Peñuelas-Calvo, I., Jiang-Lin, L. K., Girela-Serrano, B., Delgado-Gomez, D., Navarro-Jimenez, R., Baca-Garcia, E., and Porras-Segovia, A. (2022). Video games for the assessment and treatment of attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder: a systematic review. *European Child* and Adolescent Psychiatry, 31(1), 5–20. https://doi.org/10.1007/S00787-020-01557-W
- Pievsky, M. A., and McGrath, R. E. (2018). The Neurocognitive Profile of Attention-Deficit/Hyperactivity Disorder: A Review of Meta-Analyses. In Archives of Clinical Neuropsychology (Vol. 33, Issue 2, pp. 143–157). Oxford University Press. https://doi.org/10.1093/arclin/acx055
- Pineda-Alhucema, W., Aristizabal, E., Escudero-Cabarcas, J., Acosta-López, J. E., and Vélez, J. I. (2018). Executive Function and Theory of Mind in Children with ADHD: a Systematic

Review. Neuropsychology Review, 28(3), 341–358. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11065-018-9381-9

- Rajala, A. Z., Populin, L. C., and Jenison, R. L. (2020). Methylphenidate affects task-switching and neural signaling in non-human primates. *Psychopharmacology*, *237*(5), 1533–1543. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00213-020-05478-z
- Ramos, A. A., Hamdan, A. C., and Machado, L. (2020). A meta-analysis on verbal working memory in children and adolescents with ADHD. In *Clinical Neuropsychologist* (Vol. 34, Issue 5, pp. 873–898). Routledge. https://doi.org/10.1080/13854046.2019.1604998
- Rastikerdar, N., Nejati, V., Sammaknejad, N., and Fathabadi, J. (2023). Developmental trajectory of hot and cold executive functions in children with and without attention deficit-hyperactivity disorder (ADHD). *Research in Developmental Disabilities*, *137*. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.RIDD.2023.104514
- Ribner, A. D., Ahmed, S. F., Miller-Cotto, D., and Ellis, A. (2023). The role of executive function in shaping the longitudinal stability of math achievement during early elementary grades. *Early Childhood Research Quarterly*, *64*, 84–93. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecresq.2023.02.004
- Rinsky, J. R., and Hinshaw, S. P. (2011). Linkages between childhood executive functioning and adolescent social functioning and psychopathology in girls with ADHD. *Child Neuropsychology : A Journal on Normal and Abnormal Development in Childhood and Adolescence, 17*(4), 368–390. https://doi.org/10.1080/09297049.2010.544649
- Rubio Morell, B., and Hernández Expósito, S. (2019). Differential long-term medication impact on executive function and delay aversion in ADHD. *Applied Neuropsychology. Child*, 8(2), 140–157. https://doi.org/10.1080/21622965.2017.1407653
- Sala, G., and Gobet, F. (2019). Cognitive Training Does Not Enhance General Cognition. *Trends in Cognitive Sciences*, 23(1), 9–20. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tics.2018.10.004
- Sala, G., Tatlidil, K. S., and Gobet, F. (2018). Video game training does not enhance cognitive ability: A comprehensive meta-analytic investigation. *Psychological Bulletin*, 144(2), 111–139. https://doi.org/10.1037/BUL0000139
- Salcedo-Marin, M. D., Moreno-Granados, J. M., Ruiz-Veguilla, M., and Ferrin, M. (2013).
 Evaluation of planning dysfunction in attention deficit hyperactivity disorder and autistic spectrum disorders using the Zoo Map Task. *Child Psychiatry and Human Development*, 44(1), 166–185. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10578-012-0317-y
- Sanz-Cervera, P., Pastor-Cerezuela, G., Fernández-Andrés, M. I., and Tárraga-Mínguez, R. (2015). Sensory processing in children with Autism Spectrum Disorder: Relationship with non-verbal IQ, autism severity and Attention Deficit/Hyperactivity Disorder symptomatology. *Research in Developmental Disabilities*, 45–46, 188–201. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ridd.2015.07.031

- Scarpina, F., and Tagini, S. (2017). The Stroop Color and Word Test. *Frontiers in Psychology*, *8*(APR), 557. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2017.00557
- Schachar, R. J., Dupuis, A., Arnold, P. D., Anagnostou, E., Kelley, E., Georgiades, S., Nicolson, R., Townes, P., Burton, C. L., and Crosbie, J. (2023). Autism Spectrum Disorder and Attention-Deficit/Hyperactivity Disorder: Shared or Unique Neurocognitive Profiles? *Research on Child and Adolescent Psychopathology*, *51*(1), 17–31. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10802-022-00958-6
- Schachar, R., Sandberg, S., and Rutter, M. (1986). Agreement between teachers' ratings and observations of hyperactivity, inattentiveness, and defiance. *Journal of Abnormal Child Psychology*, 14(2), 331–345. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00915450
- Scheres, A., Oosterlaan, J., Swanson, J., Morein-Zamir, S., Meiran, N., Schut, H., Vlasveld, L., and Sergeant, J. A. (2003). The effect of methylphenidate on three forms of response inhibition in boys with AD/HD. *Journal of Abnormal Child Psychology*, *31*(1), 105–120. https://doi.org/10.1023/a:1021729501230
- Scionti, N., Cavallero, M., Zogmaister, C., and Marzocchi, G. M. (2020). Is Cognitive Training Effective for Improving Executive Functions in Preschoolers? A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 10. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2019.02812
- Sergeant, J. A. (2005). Modeling attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder: a critical appraisal of the cognitive-energetic model. *Biological Psychiatry*, 57(11), 1248–1255. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.BIOPSYCH.2004.09.010
- Shields, G. S., Ivory, S. L., and Telzer, E. H. (2019). Three-month cumulative exposure to testosterone and cortisol predicts distinct effects on response inhibition and risky decisionmaking in adolescents. *Psychoneuroendocrinology*, 110. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.PSYNEUEN.2019.104412
- Shields, G. S., Sazma, M. A., and Yonelinas, A. P. (2016). The effects of acute stress on core executive functions: A meta-analysis and comparison with cortisol. *Neuroscience and Biobehavioral Reviews*, 68, 651–668. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.NEUBIOREV.2016.06.038
- Skandali, N., Rowe, J. B., Voon, V., Deakin, J. B., Cardinal, R. N., Cormack, F., Passamonti, L., Bevan-Jones, W. R., Regenthal, R., Chamberlain, S. R., Robbins, T. W., and Sahakian, B. J. (2018). Dissociable effects of acute SSRI (escitalopram) on executive, learning and emotional functions in healthy humans. *Neuropsychopharmacology*, *43*(13), 2645–2651. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41386-018-0229-z
- Solanto, M. V., Abikoff, H., Sonuga-Barke, E., Schachar, R., Logan, G. D., Wigal, T., Hechtman, L., Hinshaw, S., and Turkel, E. (2001). The ecological validity of delay aversion and response inhibition as measures of impulsivity in AD/HD: A supplement to the NIMH multimodal treatment study of AD/HD. *Journal of Abnormal Child Psychology*, *29*(3), 215–228. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1010329714819

- Sonuga-Barke, E. J. S. (2002). Psychological heterogeneity in AD/HD A dual pathway model of behaviour and cognition. *Behavioural Brain Research*, *130*(1–2), 29–36. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0166-4328(01)00432-6
- Sonuga-Barke, E. J. S. (2003). The dual pathway model of AD/HD: An elaboration of neurodevelopmental characteristics. *Neuroscience and Biobehavioral Reviews*, *27*(7), 593–604. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neubiorev.2003.08.005
- Sonuga-Barke, E. J. S., and Castellanos, F. X. (2007). Spontaneous attentional fluctuations in impaired states and pathological conditions: A neurobiological hypothesis. *Neuroscience* and Biobehavioral Reviews, 31(7), 977–986. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neubiorev.2007.02.005
- Sonuga-Barke, E. J. S., Sergeant, J. A., Nigg, J., and Willcutt, E. (2008). Executive Dysfunction and Delay Aversion in Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder: Nosologic and Diagnostic Implications. *Child and Adolescent Psychiatric Clinics of North America*, 17(2), 367–384. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chc.2007.11.008
- Soto, E. F., Irwin, L. N., Chan, E. S. M., Spiegel, J. A., and Kofler, M. J. (2021). Executive functions and writing skills in children with and without ADHD. *Neuropsychology*, *35*(8), 792–808. https://doi.org/10.1037/NEU0000769
- Sternberg, R. J., and Kaufman, J. C. (1998). Human abilities. *Annual Review of Psychology*, 49, 479–502. https://doi.org/10.1146/ANNUREV.PSYCH.49.1.479
- Still, G. F. (1902). The Coulstonian Lectures on some abnormal psychical conditions in children. *Lancet*, *1*, 1008–1012.
- Stuss, D. T. (1993). Assessment of neuropsychological dysfunction in frontal lobe degeneration. *Dementia*, 4(3–4), 220–225. https://doi.org/10.1159/000107326
- Tallberg, P., Råstam, M., Wenhov, L., Eliasson, G., and Gustafsson, P. (2019). Incremental clinical utility of continuous performance tests in childhood ADHD - an evidence-based assessment approach. *Scandinavian Journal of Psychology*, 60(1), 26–35. https://doi.org/10.1111/SJOP.12499
- Tamm, L., Loren, R. E. A., Peugh, J., and Ciesielski, H. A. (2021). The Association of Executive Functioning With Academic, Behavior, and Social Performance Ratings in Children With ADHD. *Journal of Learning Disabilities*, 54(2), 124–138. https://doi.org/10.1177/0022219420961338
- Tamminga, H. G. H., Reneman, L., Huizenga, H. M., and Geurts, H. M. (2016). Effects of methylphenidate on executive functioning in attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder across the lifespan: A meta-regression analysis. In *Psychological Medicine* (Vol. 46, Issue 9, pp. 1791–1807). Cambridge University Press. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0033291716000350

- Tannock, R., and Schachar, R. (1992). Methylphenidate and Cognitive Perseveration in Hyperactive Children. *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry*, *33*(7). https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-7610.1992.tb00940.x
- Tannock, R., Schachar, R., and Logan, G. (1995). Methylphenidate and cognitive flexibility: Dissociated dose effects in hyperactive children. *Journal of Abnormal Child Psychology*, 23(2). https://doi.org/10.1007/BF01447091
- Taylor, B. K., Frenzel, M. R., Eastman, J. A., Wiesman, A. I., Wang, Y. P., Calhoun, V. D., Stephen, J. M., and Wilson, T. W. (2022). Reliability of the NIH toolbox cognitive battery in children and adolescents: a 3-year longitudinal examination. *Psychological Medicine*, 52(9), 1718– 1727. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0033291720003487
- Thaxton, C., Goldstein, J., DiStefano, M., Wallace, K., Witmer, P. D., Haendel, M. A., Hamosh, A., Rehm, H. L., and Berg, J. S. (2022). Lumping versus splitting: How to approach defining a disease to enable accurate genomic curation. *Cell Genomics*, 2(5). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.xgen.2022.100131
- Toplak, M. E., Bucciarelli, S. M., Jain, U., and Tannock, R. (2009). Executive functions: performance-based measures and the behavior rating inventory of executive function (BRIEF) in adolescents with attention deficit/hyperactivity disorder (ADHD). *Child Neuropsychology : A Journal on Normal and Abnormal Development in Childhood and Adolescence, 15*(1), 53–72. https://doi.org/10.1080/09297040802070929
- Tredgold, A. F. (1908). Mental Deficiency (Amentia). W. Wood.
- van der Meere, J., Wekking, E., and Sergeant, J. (1991). Sustained attention and pervasive hyperactivity. *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry, and Allied Disciplines, 32*(2), 275–284. https://doi.org/10.1111/J.1469-7610.1991.TB00306.X
- van der Plas, E., Spencer Noakes, T. L., Butcher, D. T., Weksberg, R., Galin-Corini, L., Wanstall, E. A., Te, P., Hopf, L., Guger, S., Hitzler, J., Schachar, R. J., Ito, S., and Nieman, B. J. (2021).
 Cognitive and behavioral risk factors for low quality of life in survivors of childhood acute lymphoblastic leukemia. *Pediatric Research*, *90*(2), 419–426. https://doi.org/10.1038/S41390-020-01230-7
- Van Doren, J., Arns, M., Heinrich, H., Vollebregt, M. A., Strehl, U., and K. Loo, S. (2019). Sustained effects of neurofeedback in ADHD: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *European Child and Adolescent Psychiatry*, 28(3), 293–305. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00787-018-1121-4
- Van Hulst, B. M., De Zeeuw, P., Vlaskamp, C., Rijks, Y., Zandbelt, B. B., and Durston, S. (2018). Children with ADHD symptoms show deficits in reactive but not proactive inhibition, irrespective of their formal diagnosis. *Psychological Medicine*, 48(15), 2508–2514. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0033291718000107

- van Schie, M. K. M., Lammers, G. J., Fronczek, R., Middelkoop, H. A. M., and van Dijk, J. G. (2021). Vigilance: discussion of related concepts and proposal for a definition. *Sleep Medicine*, *83*, 175–181. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.SLEEP.2021.04.038
- Verbruggen, F., Aron, A. R., Band, G. P. H., Beste, C., Bissett, P. G., Brockett, A. T., Brown, J. W., Chamberlain, S. R., Chambers, C. D., Colonius, H., Colzato, L. S., Corneil, B. D., Coxon, J. P., Dupuis, A., Eagle, D. M., Garavan, H., Greenhouse, I., Heathcote, A., Huster, R. J., ... Boehler, C. N. (2019). A consensus guide to capturing the ability to inhibit actions and impulsive behaviors in the Stop-Signal Task . *ELife*, *8*. https://doi.org/10.7554/eLife.46323
- Vriezen, E. R., and Pigott, S. E. (2002). The relationship between parental report on the BRIEF and performance-based measures of executive function in children with moderate to severe traumatic brain injury. *Child Neuropsychology*, 8(4), 296–303. https://doi.org/10.1076/chin.8.4.296.13505
- Westwood, S. J., Parlatini, V., Rubia, K., Cortese, S., Sonuga-Barke, E. J. S., Banaschewski, T., Baeyens, D., Bölte, S., Brandeis, D., Buitelaar, J., Carucci, S., Coghill, D., Daley, D., Döpfner, M., Ferrin, M., Galera, C., Hollis, C., Holtmann, M., Purper-Ouakil, D., ... Zuddas, A. (2023). Computerized cognitive training in attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder (ADHD): a meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials with blinded and objective outcomes. *Molecular Psychiatry*. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41380-023-02000-7
- Wiebe, S. A., Sheffield, T., Nelson, J. M., Clark, C. A. C., Chevalier, N., and Espy, K. A. (2011). The structure of executive function in 3-year-olds. *Journal of Experimental Child Psychology*, *108*(3), 436–452. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JECP.2010.08.008
- Williams, B. R., Ponesse, J. S., Schachar, R. J., Logan, G. D., and Tannock, R. (1999). Development of inhibitory control across the life span. *Developmental Psychology*, 35(1), 205–213. https://doi.org/10.1037//0012-1649.35.1.205
- Williams, G. V, and Goldman-Rakic, P. S. (1995). Modulation of memory fields by dopamine D1 receptors in prefrontal cortex. *Nature*, 376(6541), 572–575. https://doi.org/10.1038/376572a0
- Witt, S. T., van Ettinger-Veenstra, H., Salo, T., Riedel, M. C., and Laird, A. R. (2021). What Executive Function Network is that? An Image-Based Meta-Analysis of Network Labels. *Brain Topography*, *34*(5), 598–607. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10548-021-00847-z
- Wright, L., Lipszyc, J., Dupuis, A., Thayapararajah, S. W., and Schachar, R. (2014). Response inhibition and psychopathology: A meta-analysis of Go/No-Go task performance. *Journal of Abnormal Psychology*, 123(2). https://doi.org/10.1037/a0036295
- Xiong, Z., Zhang, Q., Platt, A., Liao, W., Shi, X., De Los Campos, G., and Long, Q. (2019). OCMA:
 Fast, memory-efficient factorization of prohibitively large relationship matrices. G3: Genes,
 Genomes, Genetics, 9(1), 13–19. https://doi.org/10.1534/g3.118.200908

- Yan, Z., and Rein, B. (2022). Mechanisms of synaptic transmission dysregulation in the prefrontal cortex: pathophysiological implications. *Molecular Psychiatry*, 27(1), 445–465. https://doi.org/10.1038/S41380-021-01092-3
- Yang, Y., Shields, G. S., Zhang, Y., Wu, H., Chen, H., and Romer, A. L. (2022). Child executive function and future externalizing and internalizing problems: A meta-analysis of prospective longitudinal studies. *Clinical Psychology Review*, 97. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.CPR.2022.102194
- Zahrt, J., Taylor, J. R., Mathew, R. G., and Arnsten, A. F. (1997). Supranormal stimulation of D1 dopamine receptors in the rodent prefrontal cortex impairs spatial working memory performance. *The Journal of Neuroscience : The Official Journal of the Society for Neuroscience*, 17(21), 8528–8535. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.17-21-08528.1997
- Zakzanis, K. K. (2001). Statistics to tell the truth, the whole truth, and nothing but the truth. Formulae, illustrative numerical examples, and heuristic interpretation of effect size analyses for neuropsychological researchers. *Archives of Clinical Neuropsychology*. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0887-6177(00)00076-7
- Zarrei, M., Burton, C. L., Engchuan, W., Higginbotham, E. J., Wei, J., Shaikh, S., Roslin, N. M., MacDonald, J. R., Pellecchia, G., Nalpathamkalam, T., Lamoureux, S., Manshaei, R., Howe, J., Trost, B., Thiruvahindrapuram, B., Marshall, C. R., Yuen, R. K. C., Wintle, R. F., Strug, L. J., ... Scherer, S. W. (2023). Gene copy number variation and pediatric mental health/neurodevelopment in a general population. *Human Molecular Genetics*, *26*(3), 312– 318. https://doi.org/10.1093/hmg/ddad074
- Zelazo, P. D. (2020). Executive Function and Psychopathology: A Neurodevelopmental Perspective. *Annual Review of Clinical Psychology*, *16*, 431–454. https://doi.org/10.1146/ANNUREV-CLINPSY-072319-024242

8 Figures and Captions



Figure 1: Mapping EC processes to tasks and performance metrics

Multiple EC process (ECP1...n; grey rectangles) can be measured with many different tasks (T1...n; blue ovals), each of which report performance using various performance metrics (PM1...n; red triangles). PMs are not unique to a single task (or EC process) but similar PMs can be derived from multiple tasks measuring various EC processes. Blue arrows depict the mapping of EC processes to various tasks and tasks to performance metrics. Dotted red arrows illustrate how an EC process can be measured by a task typically associated with a different EC process. Solid red arrows show how a task can generate performance metrics relevant to more than one EC process.



Figure 2: Multifactorial threshold model of ADHD

Genetic (common and rare) variants, acting in combination with environmental risk factors, start a cascade of effects on brain structure (proteins and neurotransmitters) and function, which impacts executive control and generates a wide range of ADHD traits (red normal distribution) in a cumulative, quantitative fashion. When the net effect of these risks on behavior exceeds a certain threshold (perpendicular black line), a disorder is diagnosed.

9 Tables

Table 1: Eight hypotheses derived from the Executive Control theory of ADHD

- 3.1 EC deficits are commonly found in ADHD
- 3.2 EC deficits confirm an ADHD diagnosis
- 3.3 EC measures can clarify diagnosis in the presence of comorbidity
- 3.4 EC deficits are impairing
- 3.5 EC deficits predict outcome
- 3.6 EC skills play a role in medication response
- 3.7 EC training improves ADHD
- 3.8 EC deficits play a mechanistic role in ADHD